Knowledge Commons, http://knowledgecommons.lakeheadu.ca

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Retrospective theses

2005

Effect of gender on violent and non-violent recidivism : a meta-analysis

Collins, Rachael Eve

http://knowledgecommons.lakeheadu.ca/handle/2453/3299 Downloaded from Lakehead University, KnowledgeCommons

NOTE TO USERS

This reproduction is the best copy available.



THE EFFECT OF GENDER ON VIOLENT AND

NON-VIOLENT RECIDIVISM:

A META-ANALYSIS

by

Rachael Eve Collins

A Thesis submitted in conformity with the requirements for the Degree of Master of Arts, Graduate Department of Sociology, Lakehead University

© Copyright by Rachael Eve Collins, 2005



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-15613-1 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-15613-1

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



The Effect of Gender on Violent and Non-Violent Recidivism: A Meta-Analysis

Rachael Eve Collins

A Thesis submitted in conformity with the requirements for the Degree of Master of Arts, Graduate Department of Sociology, Lakehead University © Copyright by Rachael Eve Collins, 2005

ABSTRACT

A large body of literature has been dedicated to understanding re-offending after release from prison – a phenomenon known as recidivism. Such research is critical both to understanding the determinants of crime and optimizing the correctional system. A metaanalysis was conducted using 49 published studies on actuarial predictors of both violent and non-violent recidivism in men and women. The current analysis resulted in 65 effect sizes between violent recidivists and non-recidivists, and 60 effect sizes between violent recidivists with non-violent recidivists. Several variables (drug/alcohol use, age, and marriage) were predictive of recidivism. Gender differences were also observed. In men, increased violent criminal history was associated with increased violent recidivism. In women, a younger age at first offence and longer sentences were predictive of violent re-offending. Despite limited data on women, pursuing the predictors of recidivism is a rewarding avenue of research which can lead to many possibilities within this field.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Many people have contributed to this piece of work, and, while it is impossible to thank them all here, I will make a worthy attempt. Foremost, I would like to thank my advisors Dr. Rachel Ariss and Dr. Jianye Liu for providing the guidance and the necessary resources for undertaking this research. I would also like to thank Dr. Ariss for allowing me the freedom to approach this topic through a quantitative analysis; all of the extra work that she put into this project is greatly appreciated. I would like to thank Dr. Bruce Minore for his contributions and ideas regarding this research. In addition, thank you to Dr. Michael Weinrath from the University of Winnipeg who was my external reader for this project. I would also like to acknowledge Dr. Sharon-Dale Stone and Dr. Laurie Forbes for giving me the opportunity to broaden both my research experience and teaching abilities. As well to Dr. Fridolin Ting for his friendship and the bearer of much of my stress – thank you.

I must also take this time to thank those outside of academia who have contributed to this work in some way. To my parents, who have supported me both financially and emotionally throughout my entire academic career. I would like to thank my grandparents here in Thunder Bay, for all of the support, guidance and wonderful times we have spent together. To all of my friends back home, Giovanna, Tracy, Danielle, Christine, Gabriel, and Kim, thank you for your support and putting up with much of my frustrations through out this year. Last, but certainly not least, to Diano F. Marrone, my confidante and partner, there are to words I can say that would express my gratitude for your endless support and patience. You are the keeper of my sadice and without you, none of this could have been accomplished.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. TABLE LEGEND	viii
1. INTRODUCTION	9
1.1 Limitations in the Study of Recidivism	10
1.11 Defining Recidivism	10
1.12 Unobserved Criminal Behaviour	12
1.13 Opportunity and Offending	13
1.2 Implications of the Study	14
1.3 Factors Affecting Recidivism	15
1.31 Substance Use and Recidivism	17
1.32 Age and Recidivism	18
1.33 Marital Status and Recidivism	19
1.34 Static-Dynamic Dichotomy	20
1.4 Recidivism and Gender	20
1.41Double Deviance	23
1.5 Factors which affect Female Recidivism	24
1.6 Women's Experience that Differ from Men's	26
1.61 Separation from Families	27
1.7 Violence	28
1.71 Violence as a Gendered Concept	31
1.8 Research Rationale	34
1.82 Meta-Analysis as an Optimal Methodology	34
1.83 Research Questions	36
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	37
2.1 Study Inclusion Criteria	38

.

2.2 Literature Search	39
2.3 Dependant Variables.	41
2.31 Proportion of Recidivists	41
2.32 Criminal History	42
2.33 Violent Criminal History	42
2.34 Drug Use	43
2.35 Alcohol Use	43
2.36 Employment	43
2.37 Marital Status	44
2.38 Education	44
2.39 Socio-economic Status	44
2.310 Age	44
2.311 Anti-social Personality	45
2.312 Sentence Length	45
2.313 Depression	45
2.4 Effect Size Calculation	45
2.5 Effect Size Weighting	47
2.6 Homogeneity of Variance Analysis	49
2.7 Moderator Variable Analysis.	50
2.71 Ethnicity	50
2.72 Nationality	51
2.73 Follow-up	52
3. RESULTS	52
3.1 Violent Recidivists Vs. Non-Recidivists	53
3.11 Global Homogeneity of Variance Testing	53

.

3.12 Magnitude and Direction of Effects which are	
Homogeneous across Gender	55
3.13 Gender Differences	55
3.14 Male-Only Effects	59
3.2 Violent Recidivists Vs. Non-Violent Recidivists	62
3.21 Global Homogeneity of Variance Testing	62
3.22 Magnitude and Direction of Effects which are	
Homogeneous across Gender	62
3.23 Gender Differences	64
3.24 Male-Only Effects	66
4. DISCUSSION	69
4.1 General Discussion	69
4.2 Unique Predictors of Violence	70
4.3 Recidivism and Gender	72
4.31 Violent Criminal History	. 73
4.32 Marriage and Recidivism	74
4.33 Age at First Offence	74
4.34 Sentence Length	76
4.4 Proportions of Recidivists across Studies	79
4.5 Insignificant Factors	86
4.6 Limitations of the Research	86
4.61 The Size of the Meta-Analysis	87
4.62 Availability of Quantitative Evidence	87
4.63 Relationship to Criminal Behaviour	90
4.64 Study Design	91

.

•

4.65 Unobserved criminal Behaviour	92
4.66 Defining Recidivism	93
4.7 Future Directions	93
5. CONCLUSION	95
6. REFERENCES	100
7. APPENDIX A	111

.

.

·

I. TABLE LEGEND

Table 1. Homogeneity of Variance and ANOVA-Equivalent Tests		
For Violent Recidivists vs. Non-Recidivists	54	
Table 2. Effect Sizes Detailing Actuarial Differences among Violent Recidivists	/s. Non-	
Recidivists	57	
Table 3. Effect Sizes Detailing Actuarial Differences among Violent Recidivists	vs. Non-	
Recidivists Parsed by Gender	60	
Table 4. Inverse Variance Weighted Regression Analysis of Heterogeneous Effects in Violent		
Recidivists vs. Non-Recidivists	61	
Table 5. Homogeneity of Variance and ANOVA-Equivalent Tests for Violent Re	cidivists vs.	
Non-Violent Recidivists	63	
Table 6. Effect Size Detailing Actuarial Differences among Violent Recidivists v	s. Non-Violent	
Recidivists	65	
Table 7. Effect Size Detailing Actuarial Differences among Violent Recidivists v	s. Non-Violent	
Recidivists Parsed by Gender	67	
Table 8. Inverse Variance Weighted Regression Analyses of Heterogeneous Effects in Violent		
vs. Non-Violent Recidivists	68	

viii

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

.

.

1. INTRODUCTION

The study of crime and its determinants has intrigued researchers in criminology, sociology and psychology for decades. Within this diverse and multi-faceted field, a growing body of literature has been dedicated to understanding those individuals who re-offend after being released from prison – a phenomenon known as recidivism.

The need to understand individual and group recidivism is critical to optimizing the correctional system in general. According to Correctional Services Canada, the purpose of the Canadian correctional system is "the rehabilitation of offenders and their reintegration into the community as law-abiding citizens through the provisions of programs in penitentiaries and in the community" (Correctional Services of Canada, 2003). Despite this ideal, the correctional system has limited resources to work with. Thus, it is of the utmost importance to identify those offenders who are at the greatest risk of re-offending. Outlining these risk factors will eventually aid parole officers, probation officers and corrections officials to identify and target resources towards those who are at the greatest risk. In turn, reducing recidivism will reduce both the risk to the individual victims and the toll crime takes upon our cities and public safety. This may ultimately reduce the cost of crime at all levels of public spending and allow for the maximization of program effectiveness both inside the institution and in society at large (Bonta, Pang, & Wallace-Capretta, 1995; Pelissier, Camp, Scott, Gaes, Saylor, William *et al.*, 2003).

9

The great potential for understanding recidivism has led researchers to investigate this phenomenon at length. However, the relevant limitations of this line of research require discussion.

1.1 Limitations in the Study of Recidivism

Although, as stated above, much research has been done in an attempt to establish critical insight into recidivism, progress towards such an understanding is hampered by several limitations inherent to this field of study. Although none of these limitations are severe enough to significantly impede progress in investigating this problem, it is important to understand these limitations in order to appreciate the innate limits surrounding naturalistic observation (i.e., observation of a subject in their own environment without experimental manipulation of behaviour) in the context of the criminal justice system. The following limitations are the most common outlined in the literature.

1.11 Defining Recidivism

One of the most fundamental problems faced when studying recidivism lies in how to define this term. The conclusions drawn from any proce of research may be effected by the definition of recidivism that a garticular researcher chooses. Moreover, this impact may be both ideological and or practical in nature.

Ideologically, definitions or recidivism may vary in term of the degree to which they place the individual vs. the correctional institution and/or society at large as the critical agent responsible for this phenomenon. In its most rudimentary form, recidivism may be defined as a situation in which "a person…persistently relapses into crime" (Hawkins, 1994, p. 428). Recidivism may also be thought of as "…the rate or percentage of offenders who are committed to the custody of the Department of Corrections for another offence within a specified period of time" (Oklahoma Department of Corrections, 2004). These definitions inherently place responsibility for post-release actions squarely with the convicted individual. In contrast, some researchers (e.g., Baumer, Wright, Kristinsdottir, & Gunnlaugsson, 2002) have defined recidivism as a social failure, which can be indexed by the extent to which offenders are not rehabilitated in prison, yet prematurely released into society at large.

In a similar vein, Baumer *et al.* (2002, p. 53) define the prevention of recidivism as "...the instrumental goal of crime prevention, punishment must fulfil an important social function: to increase social solidarity by creating scapegoats and reinforcing boundaries of acceptable behaviour". Clearly, such definitions place the responsibility of crime and recidivism prevention with the correctional institution, rather than the individual. Such ideological perspectives may have profound impact on the nature of the research that is carried out, as well as the conclusions that researchers will draw from their results. The influences of these theoretical perspectives, however fundamental, are subtle in nature, and thus difficult to tease apart.

The influences of practical limitations, however, are more straightforward. One of the greatest of these practical obstacles to accurately assessing recidivism lies in the fact that there is no single generally accepted operational definition of the term (Lattimore, 2000; Rice & Harris, 1995). Typically, recidivism is indexed using one of

four benchmark events (Matthews & Pitts, 1998, p. 5): re-arrest, re-conviction (a person is convicted of another crime, but not necessarily returned to prison), readmission (return to prison), and re-offending rate (commission of a crime).

Since individuals may experience one or more events in the above sequence, and not others, estimates of the rates of recidivism within a population may change drastically depending on the index measure. This runs the risk of identifying individuals who are still, by some measures, recidivists (e.g., individuals who have been re-arrested but not re-convicted) as examples of the ability of a prison or other correctional program to successfully rehabilitate individuals (Matthews & Pitts, 1998, p. 5).

1.12 Unobserved Criminal Behaviour

As stated above, recidivism is an inherently difficult phenomenon to measure accurately. The main obstacle to accurate assessment of this phenomenon lies in the fact that many crimes are unobserved (Lattimore, 2000). Although most researchers, policy makers, and the criminal justice system rely mainly on either self-reports of criminals or official measures of crime rates (i.e., aggregated municipal, state/provincial, or national statistics), each of these options carries the potential to grossly underestimate recidivism.

Although using self-reports opens the possibility of capturing some of the information that is unavailable through other means (such as when participants admit to crimes which they have never been charged or convicted of), it is difficult (and often impossible) to verify the truthfulness of the statements made.

1.13 Opportunity and Offending

Another problematic area within the research regarding recidivism involves the fact that researchers may drastically alter the base rate of recidivism by changing the length of their follow-up analysis, and thus the length of time in which one has the opportunity to reoffend. For instance, certain studies of recidivism have used a six month follow-up period (e.g., Putnins, 2003, p. 401), while others have opted to follow up for a period of two or three years (e.g., Merrill, Alterman, Cacciola, & Rutherford, 1999; Pelissier *et al.*, 2003). In contrast, studies have been conducted following parolees for seven years in order to determine recidivism rates (Heller & Ehrlich, 1984, p. 31).

Proulx *et al.*, (1999) states that the most accurate recidivism rates are obtained from studies that have a follow-up period of five years or longer. In general, longer follow-up periods allow for a stronger relationship between the predictors of recidivism and the eventual outcome (Proulx *et al.*, 1999). Longer follow-up periods may create a more accurate sample of recidivism, since 35-40 percent of the people released from prison within the United States are re-incarcerated three to six years after their release (Baumer *et al.*, 2002). Despite several significant limitations, several key predictors have emerged which show promise in identifying those at the greatest risk for recidivism, which will be detailed below.

13

1.2 Implications of the Study

Although the actuarial predictors of recidivism in general have been addressed previously, an integrated examination of the contribution of both violence and gender on this phenomenon has yet to be conducted. Thus, the purpose of this research is to examine some of the better-understood determinants of recidivism, and examine the contribution of both violence and gender to this phenomenon in an integrated examination.

According to several researchers (e.g., Bonta, Law & Handson, 1998; Dowden & Andrews, 1999; Loucks & Zamble, 1994), there are both similarities and differences to why men and women commit and re-commit crimes. Women are especially important when examining crime and recidivism because they are largely ignored within the criminal justice system. With more research done on this topic; one will be able to design programs that will target both the criminogenic needs of women, and their special needs which separate them from male prisoners. A large meta-analysis conducted by Gendreau, Little, and Goggin, (1996), found that one of the strongest predictors of future recidivism in men was criminogenic needs. Thus, in order to design highly effective offender treatment programs, strong attention needs to focus on the predictors of recidivism in general, such as criminogenic needs of both men and women independently.

In addition, there have been many attempts over the years to understand the nature of violence. However, due to the idiosyncratic pathology of violence itself, there remains little evidence for the exact causes of violent behaviour (Holmes & Holmes

1996; Athens 1980). Researching the determinants of criminal behaviour and, more importantly, repeated criminal behaviour helps not only society at large, but also the individual committing these acts.

An important area of differentiation for violence is gender. Thus, it is worthwhile to understand why men and women are different when it comes to committing violent acts. Such an understanding of the nature of gender roles in criminal behaviour and how they impact on violence can best be attained by concomitant examination of both gender and violence in the context of criminal recidivism.

1.3 Factors Affecting Recidivism

As stated above, much has been accomplished concerning the factors that predict future recidivism. The link between several of these factors (e.g., age, criminal history, anti-social peer groups, and substance use) and recidivism has been established to the point where they are now considered common place indicators of criminal behaviour (Bonta *et al*, 1998; Gendreau *et al*, 1996). However it is important to note that many of these social factors have been widely researched only in male prison populations (which will be discussed in more detail below).

In large, these determinants can be segregated into several distinct clusters: biographical data, judicial data, psychological traits, and social ties. The following discussion will outline some of the factors affecting recidivism in male offenders.

Biographical data encompass static variables in the individual's life history, such as their age of first offence and level of education. These variables have repeatedly shown a strong correlation with recidivism rates, and are included as part of several standardized assessments of recidivism risk, such as the Level of Service Inventory– Revised (Andrews & Bonta, 1995) and the General Statistical Information on Recidivism measure (Nuffield, 1982).

Judicial data, which is usually collected by police or courts, includes criminal history of the offender. For instance, a study conducted by Dejong (1997) examined how incarceration sentence length affects the length of time from release until re-arrest. Dejong (1997) found that time length of incarceration did not play a significant role in predicting the timing of recidivism, but did increase the probability of eventual re-arrest. Thus, offenders that had longer prison sentences may delay the length of time in which they recidivate over those who served shorter sentences.

Psychological traits include personality traits, such as extraversion/introversion, the presence of pathology (e.g., psychopathology or schizophrenia), as well as destructive or high risk behaviours (i.e., drug and alcohol abuse).

Social ties, such as atmosphere at home, parents' criminal background, divorce (either parents or the individual) and overall home life environment, have also proven important determinants of recidivism. For instance, Loucks and Zamble (1994) found that many of the men who recidivate spent the first years of their lives living with adults other than their parents.

Bonta, *et al.* (1998) also found that an individual's marital status might play a role in recidivism rates for men. In addition, certain historical data, such as school distory (including truancy and misconduct at school) and work history (such as unemployment, unstable job and lack of hobbies and interests) are thought to be predictive of future offences (Buikhuiser & Hoekstra, 1974, p. 63). The overall trend within this type of data

is that individuals at the greatest risk of recidivism have shown the greatest amount of instability in their lives. For example, many dropped out of school, had problems with their families, and were unemployed or held odd jobs at the time of their arrest (Loucks & Zamble, 1994). Similarly, Dejong (1997) has concluded that men with few bonds to society (which, according to Dejong, included not only family ties, but also employment and education) were among the most likely to recidivate after incarceration.

Several other variables were found to be distinctively predictive of recidivism in much of the research (drug use, alcohol use, age, and marriage).

1.31 Substance use and Recidivism

Alcohol and drug use are significant predictors of violent recidivism and may lead to an increased risk of recidivism in general (Bonta *et al.* 1995; Gendreau *et al.* 1996 Jones & Sims, 1997; Mills *et al.* 2003). The link between substance use and recidivism may manifest itself in several ways – through drug-defined crimes (e.g., possession and selling), drug-related offences (in which people are financing their drug habit), and internal behaviours in which drugs and crime are a part of the individual's lifestyle (Walker, 1994, p. 257). Walker (1994) states that people who go into drug treatment programs commit fewer crimes than they did before they sought treatment. In addition, French, McGeary, Chitwood, McCoy, Inciardi, and McBride (2000) found that both men and women were more likely to recidivate if they abused drugs. Despite controlling for age, gender, survey year, and degree of criminal activity, this relationship was reliably observed by French *et al.* (2000) across both gender and age, consistent with the current results of this study.

Conversely, there is also evidence that drug use does not cause criminal activity, or repeated activity. According to the National Household Survey (USA), there existed 12.6 million people in 1991 that either used or abuse drugs, and few of them became addicts or career criminals. Rather, much of this drug use is recreational (Walker, 1994, p. 258). The difference between drug use and drug abuse may change depending upon the research definition. Both alcohol and drugs can be used recreationally; however both can be abused as well. According to Moelker (2004), a substance may become abused when the inherent risks involved are not taken into account, or the substance is taken for the wrong reasons, such as depression.

In addition, although there is a strong relationship between substance use, crime, and recidivism, drug use may be a critical result, rather than cause, of criminal behaviour (French *et al.*, 2000). In either case, drug use is an important factor when examining the link between crime and recidivism. "Alcohol is the drug that is most prevalent in individuals committing violence...Experimental studies have repeatedly demonstrated that alcohol causes an increase in aggressive behaviour, in both animals and humans" (Monahan, 2003, p. 34, quote from Miczec *et al.*, 1994).

1.32 Age and Recidivism

The age at which a person begins committing crimes is said to be predictive of future offending and recidivism. In particular, age at first offence in juveniles is said to be one of the greatest predictors of serious future offending (Piquero & Chung, 2001; Corapcioglu & Erdogan, 2004; Bonta *et al.*, 1995; Gendreau *et al.*, 1996; Heller & Ehrlich, 1984; Cottle, Lee, & Heilburn, 2001). A younger age at first offence may be

predictive of greater criminal activity simply because a person has a longer time frame to commit crimes, and the more crimes are committed by an individual, the more serious they tend to become over time (Sampson & Lauritsen 1994).

It should be noted, however, that a person's age at first offence might interact with other variables to determine recidivistic risk. For instance, low social status may decrease the age of an individual's first offence, and, in turn, onset may be enhanced by delinquent peers and labelling of one as deviant, especially in young men (Tolan & Thomas, 1995, p. 178).

Age and recidivism can be difficult and timely to study as many of the primary studies conducted to establish the link between age at first offence and crime have involved long and detailed longitudinal examinations, while the data synthesized in the current study involved primarily case-control studies, or short-term follow-up of adult, previously incarcerated individuals.

1.33 Marital Status and Recidivism

In adulthood, the major social tie is marriage (Teevan & Hewitt, 1995, p. 142). In men, marriage inhibits criminal behaviour (Sampson & Laub, 1990), and reduces the risks of suicide (Hasselback, Lee, Mao, Nichol, & Wigle, 1991), drinking problems (Temple, Fillmore, Hartka, Johnstone, Leino, & Motoyoshi, 1991) and mental illness (Williams, Takeuchi, & Adair, 1992). Although data was unavailable for women and thus could not be included in this study, previous studies suggest that these positive effects may not be present for women, due to loneliness among unemployed wives, as

well as the stress from satisfying the demands of both work and home (Teevan & Hewitt, 1995).

1.34 Static-Dynamic Dichotomy

The static-dynamic dichotomy was first developed by Andrews and Bonta (1994) in order to identify risk factors of recidivism. Static factors (i.e., age, previous convictions, criminal history and age of onset) are aspects of the offender's past that are predictive of future recidivism but are not prone to change over time (Gendreau, *et al*, 1996, p. 575). Dynamic risk factors or otherwise referred to as criminogenic needs include antisocial personality, behaviours and values (Gendreau *et al.*, 1996, p. 575). These factors are used as targets for treatment because they are able to change over time. Dynamic factors were developed in order to rehabilitate rather than punish inmates. This concept is used to measure what types of behaviours place an inmate at the greatest risk of re-offending (Ward & Stewart, 2003). In other words, dynamic factors are seen as specific individual types of behaviours that can be altered at the cognitive behavioural level in order to reduce re-offending. Such risk behaviours are individually assessed and may include drug and alcohol use or abuse (Ward & Stewart, 2003, p. 127), or, an example of a criminogenic need outlined by Bonta *et al.* (1995, p. 283) is poor anger control.

1.4 Recidivism and Gender

Recidivism research has mainly been dedicated toward the knowledge of the male offender, there is still little known on the subject of the female offender. Female recidivism remains one of the most under researched topics involving women today (Bonta, Harman, Hann, & Cormier, 1996; Piquero & Chung, 2001). One of the underlying causes related to the misrepresentation of recidivism amongst women by the correctional system may be due to the standardization of many of the risk scales used to measure both recidivism and criminogenic needs. The scales used to measure a person's probability of recidivism are based predominantly on male offender populations (Bonta *et al.*, 1995). Since rehabilitation and reduction of recidivism are among the primary goals of any correctional institution, it is important to correctly establish what works best for both men and women in order to curb the phenomenon of reoffending. Moreover, once the factors underlying female recidivism are more clearly understood, programs can be tailored to target the specific needs of the female inmate.

One of the principal reasons for the lack of attention to women in the criminal justice system as a research topic is due to the perception of female offenders as a minimal risk to society. This apparent low risk is based primarily on the fact that women tend to pose a smaller risk to the general public in terms of violence toward strangers – it has been reported that almost 85 percent of the people arrested for violent crimes towards strangers are males (Scott, Schwartz, & VanderPlatt, 2000). In addition, men tend to have longer and more serious criminal histories than their female counterparts. For instance, a greater proportion of men are arrested for robbery, homicide, sexual offences, and property offences than women (Loucks & Zamble, 1994).

These statistics of female crime have lead to the widespread use of male data for research on both violent crimes and recidivism rates – women are rarely considered when looking at rates of crime (Giddens, 1991; Hannah-Moffat & Shaw, 2001; Hubbard, &

Pratt, 2002; Piquero, & Chung, 2001; Rapp-Paglicci, Roberts, & Wodarski, 2002; Simourd & Andrews, 1994).

Although women tend to pose a smaller risk to society in terms of violent crime, they still have high rates of recidivism and thus must be included to obtain a comprehensive understanding of the underpinnings of this phenomenon. For example, Wilson, Quinn, Beville, and Anderson (1998) estimated that 50 to 85 percent of the incarcerated women in the United States recidivate upon release. In addition, the female inmate population in the United States has grown over 200 percent in the past decade, mainly due to the increase in female drug related offences. Currently, women are among the fastest growing population in the United States correctional system (Hubbard, & Pratt, 2002; Pelissier *et al.*, 2003; Piquero & Chung, 2001).

In Canada the number of incarcerated women has also increased. Between 1981 and 1998 women in Canadian prisons has increased by 62 percent (Correctional Services Canada, 2004). The most common reason for this increase was due to warrant committal by the courts, 79 percent to 92 percent of the women in Canadian prisons are there due to an outstanding warrant (Correctional Services Canada, 2004). The most frequent crimes committed by women in Canada are: theft (27.2 percent), viol clon of liquor acts (12.4 percent), assault (11.5 percent), and fraud (9.7 percent) (Borlach, 1997, p. 15).

These statistics can create a strong impeted for uncovering the causes of female crime and the reasons for recidivism. Understanding the impact of gender on recidivism is critical since women may have different needs than men, especially in terms of treatment program success. For instance, many incarcerated women are identified as having a need for programs that target their mental health needs, as well as programs that

will help them to overcome abusive histories. Furthermore, the population of incarcerated women is more diverse culturally and racially than the larger population of men (Hannah-Moffat & Shaw, 2001, p. 2).

1.41 Double Deviance

Women for the most part suffer from more intense societal scrutiny over criminal behaviour than men. Most women who commit crimes fall under a category called "double deviance" (Copeland, 1997, p. 186). Copeland was one of the first authors to use the term, which refers to women who fall outside of their perceived role as mothers, daughters and sisters and have now become criminals. Double deviance was originally used to describe the stigmatization that women drug addicts faced. In Copeland's study on female drug addicts, one of the most common reasons for not getting treatment is that women felt they were more stigmatized than men. "Women are looked down upon anyway and even more so when they have a problem that encompasses lack of moral and social restraint with overtones of sexual promiscuity and poor maternal instincts" (Copeland, 1997, p. 186).

Double deviance has its roots in the literature on stigmatization. Irving Goffman is one of the better-known authors on stigmatization. In his book *Stigma* (1963, p. 3) Goffman used the term stigma to "refer to an attribute that is deeply discrediting". Inherent to this idea is the notion that a stigma is something that deviates from society's perception of what is normal. One of the largest problems of being stigmatized is the label that is attached to an individual. This label can severely limit the individual's ability to fully participate in the everyday life of society, such as holding a job, having a

home, getting access to any needed services and enjoying mutually supportive relationships with family and friends. In effect, the stigmatized individual who is denied legitimate social roles can eventually adopt a deviant social role, which can lead to repeated criminal activity. (Clinard & Meier, 1992, p. 107).

The term double deviance has now found its way into the literature on crime and recidivism. Wilson *et al.* (1998, p. 62) state that women tend to have very high rates of recidivism after leaving prison because of "double deviance". The authors describe this as women are faced with a societal perception of purity and goodness and if a woman should commit a crime, then she is said to be both stigmatized for committing that crime, as well for breaking the societal norm of how a woman should act. Women are expected to be more socially compliant than men, and although there are variations in this stereotypical expectation for women such as race, class, and community status, still none of these factors are as strong as gender (Julian, 1993, p. 345). Thus, women who are returning to the community after being incarcerated may face a stigmatization and hardship from the community, and lose the very support that is needed for success. This may happen by virtue of the label and can result in isolation from non-stigmatized groups in society.

1.5 Factors Which Affect Female Recidivism

Factors that may affect female recidivism are unique in several ways over their male counter parts. Take for instance childcare responsibilities. For this reason, female recidivism should be both targeted and treated independently from male recidivism.

Bonta *et al.* (1995) found that age and past criminal history were predictive of recidivism in women (as is the case for men), however the type of offence (violent or non-violent offences) committed by women was not associated with recidivism. In addition, women who were dependent upon the government for assistance (welfare) or an illegal means of acquiring income had a higher rate of recidivism than those who were not dependent. Some of the variables that have increased the rates of recidivism in men were not found to be significant among women. These variables included a history of juvenile delinquency, use of a weapon involved in the offence, offence committed with peers, and alcohol and drug use (Bonta *et al.*, 1995).

Wilson *et al.* (1998, p. 62) discuss how recidivism in women is often attributed to individual characteristics. According to Wilson *et al* (1998), the typical female offender is usually young, unskilled, not married, yet has children, is both economically and educationally disadvantaged, a high school dropout and of low socio-economic status. Although limited data is available regarding the female offender, the little data that does exist corroborates this profile (e.g., Bonta *et al.*, 1995; Archwamety & Katsiyannis, 1998).

One of the leading causes of criminal behaviour (not necessarily recidivism) in women is past sexual abuse, usually committed at the hands of a family member or close relative (Bonta, 1998). According to Comack (1996, pp. 36-37), approximately 68 percent of women in the Canadian prison system have been sexually or physically abused at some point within their lives. This percentage rises drastically when looking at Aboriginal women in prison, close to 90 percent have suffered physical abuse and over 60 percent experienced sexual abuse, usually at the hands of family members.

Although, some of the characteristics of female prisoners are the same as men, some important factors differ greatly. For instance women in prison are often mothers and the primary caregivers of their children. They are for the most part financially dependant, and more so than men unemployed at the time of their arrest. They may also have strong addictions to drugs and alcohol while others have physical and mental health issues (Hannah-Moffat & Shaw 2001). These differences are extremely important when looking at policy interventions for designing programs that will be more equipped to deal with women and their special needs.

1.6 Women's Experiences That Differ from Men's

In order to gain a clear understanding of male and female recidivism, one must first look at the types of crimes committed most often by women and men, the reasons why they commit crimes and the nature and extent to which women re-offend (Banks, 2003). This type of research is important because in order to create gender specific treatment programs, one must first know where and how men and women are different when committing crimes. According to much of the data on female crime, women most often commit property crimes, drug offences and fraud (Banks, 2003, p.42). Banks (2003, p. 42) also found that there is not a notable difference in crimes that pertain to assault, larceny-theft, driving under the influence of alcohol and drug offences between men and women. Thus, men and women tend to commit the above crimes equally.

Banks (2003) found that according to the Canadian Bureau of Justice, 22 percent of all crimes committed in 1998 were at the hands of women, of that 22 percent approximately 17 percent were for violent crimes, with the highest rate of 20 percent was for aggravated assault. However, more serious crimes such as murder, rape, manslaughter the rate fell to only 1 percent. Men almost exclusively were convicted for the majority of homicide offences, and when women are convicted for homicide it is almost always aimed toward a male partner such as a husband, ex-husband, and boyfriend (Banks, 2003, p.42).

1.61 Separations from Families

Separation from families is an important aspect of an experience of incarceration for women, more so than men. Data indicates that four out of five women are mothers and three out of five men are fathers (Banks, 2003). In addition, women are for the most part the sole guardians of the children. Thus women may have an added stress over men while incarcerated because they may be concerned for the welfare of their children. Banks (2003) has outlined some stress factors that women face regarding their children once incarcerated. Primarily women are concerned about how their absence will affect their children's well being and secondly, the financial difficulties the family will face once the mother is incarcerated. In addition, many mothers fear that they will have to tell their children about their incarceration, and what had occurred in order for them to be there. Many women lose legal guardianship over their children once incarcerated. Since some women are the primary caregivers, once incarcerated, the children may be left in the hands of foster care.

Moreover, once a woman is released from prison, they then encounter the stress of having to re-establish their role as mother, and the difficulty of this task is said to

27

depend on the length of time served in prison (Banks, 2003; Wilson *et al.*, 1998). This difficulty is summed up well by Sugar and Fox (1990, p.16), as they quote a female inmate as saying, "I had to learn to be a mother all over again but this time with bigger children. I can't relate to them now I have no patience".

1.7 Violence

Arguably, the domain of criminal conduct in which there is the largest gender divide is in the use of violence. This disparity underscores the importance of studying both violent and non-violent recidivism in both genders. Throughout the literature there have been many different explanations as to why violent behaviour exists. Much of the rhetoric on violent behaviour encompasses trying to understand the personality characteristics of the individual offender. Thus, the main focal points for studying violent behaviour are by looking at pathological personality disorders and abnormal psychology. According to Holmes and Holmes (1996, p. 36) there are five basic components that make up an individual's tendency towards violent behaviour: biology, culture, environment, common experiences and usique experiences. One of the main reasons violent offenders should be singled out fr _____other_offenders is that their behaviours are said to be individually unique and dependant upon gender. Many of these unique qualities are said to be found in a person's values and modules (Holmes & Holmes 1996). In addition, according to Athens (1980), people bold. violent self-images teru to react to situations in a violent manner.

There is a difference between aggression and violence, according to Sumner, (1997, as cited by Comack & Balfour, 2004, pg. 52) "Aggression is an action we accept, violence is an action we do not normally condone". Aggression in men has become so common that that it is now seen as an expression of masculinity (Comack & Balfour, 2004). When a young man is confronted by another male and violence occurs they can also be acting out a particular "masculine script" (Comack & Balfour, 2004, p. 51). A masculine script is a type of action (aggressive behaviour), that may lead to violence. Comack and Balfour (2004) refer to a masculine script as a way of resolving interpersonal conflicts or as a way of protecting their honour. This is a behaviour that is most common in men and not women. Moreover, violent aggression is heightened by an audience (such as peers) and the use of alcohol (Comack & Balfour, 2004).

It is commonly claimed that the best predictor of future violence is a violent history (Lang, Holden, Langevin, Pugh & Wu, 1987, p. 181). Outlined below are some of the behavioural factors leading to violent criminal behaviour in men according to (Lang *et al.*, 1987). These included hostility, self-consciousness, a lack of prosocial skills (i.e., the opposite of antisocial behaviour – constructive and non-detrimental means of attaining social status and integration), family behavioural problems, and personality traits such as extroversion, neuroticism and psychoticism. However, detailed discussion of all of the behavioural predictors of violent behaviour is beyond the scope of this study. As such, discussion of violence will be restricted to those areas in which there appears to be the largest gender differences.

For the most part women tend to be less violent than men and women have less violence in their past and current criminal behaviour than men. Women are usually

convicted of fewer crimes, and have a less extensive criminal background than their male counterparts. In addition, the crimes women are most often convicted of are minor offences (Austin & Irwin, 2001; Shaw, 1994). The most common types of crimes committed by women according to Comack (1996, p. 17), are crimes against the person such as assault, robbery and manslaughter, crimes against property, which include theft, fraud and shoplifting, public order offences such as mischief and arson, and drug and alcohol related offences such as drunk driving. Furthermore, many of the women who are convicted of a serious violent crime such as murder, their victims are usually long-term partners, rather than a stranger on the street, thus violent females tend to pose a less serious risk to the general public (Austin & Irwin 2001).

Felson (2002, p. 24) states that one of the reasons why men tend to be more violent than women is due to gender differences in self-image. Gender differences in aggression and violence are partly due to gender role identities. For instance, men and boys tend to place more importance on power, courage, and risk-taking behaviours. As a result, if a man's identity is under attack, he is more likely to respond violently than a woman would in the same situation. Much of the violence committed by men can be attributed to their desire to control others and the situation around them. According to Felson (2002), both men and women use control in stressful situations, however, men tend to control through violence whereas women tend to control the situation verbally. Men also tend to have higher amounts of impulsive behaviour than women. Impulsive behaviour usually occurs when an individual is under an emotional state, highly stressed or under the influence of drugs or alcohol (Felson, 2002, p.214).

Alcohol use is said to be strongly associated with the male identity. Men are reported to drink and get drunk twice as often as women (Felson, 2002, p.25). The majority of violent criminal acts are committed under the influence of substances such as drugs and alcohol. These criminal acts may be a direct result of substance use that may increase the probability, and intensity of aggressive behaviour (Hillbrand, Foster & Hirt, 1991, p. 419). Since substance use is intimately tied to both violence and gender, studying the consumption of these substances may provide critical insight into some of the determinants of the gender divide regarding violent criminal behaviour.

1.71 Violence as a gendered concept

As outlined above, there are several important ways in which violence can be viewed as a distinct phenomenon across the genders. Given these differences, what can be said about the origins of these differences within society? To some extent, these origins may lie in the social construction of gender, and in violence itself as a gendered concept.

Gender is socially constructed, and because of this people tend to classify individuals and groups into specific categories in order to understand them (Gilbert, 2002). Such broad categorization becomes problematic, however, when dealing with women and aggression or violence. Violent behaviour in women tends to fall outside of the "normal" realm of how a woman should act. In turn, this violation of the social norms regarding the role of the woman in society may critically affect the prospects of violent women for rehabilitation and reintegration into society. Thus, analysis of the

social discourses violent women face may be critical to understanding women, violence and recidivism.

The gender differences surrounding the social discourse of violence may be profound – affecting many aspects of a violent woman's experience with the criminal justice system from conviction to sentencing, as well as their prospects upon release.

In general, social tolerance for aggression is gendered (Gilbert, 2002). Men who are either aggressive or violent are seen as exercising their masculinity, whereas women who are violent are seen as mad, crazy, or masculine, contradicting social ideals of femininity (Gilbert, 2002). Many people see women as not being capable of violence, so their crimes are either sexualized (prostitution), or women are constantly seen as the victims, rather than the predators (Gilbert, 2002). Women have had a mixed societal view point over the years, leading to the perception that:

> We have, then, women as innocent, gentle, caring, nurturing, and incapable of committing violence – the angel, the mother, the virgin, the Madonna, and yet still the 'other'. We also see women as evil, sexual, dangerous, the vampire, the black widow, the whore, the vamp, the 'other'. The woman who is capable of aggression and violence becomes the masculine woman, the lesbian, the 'other' (Gilbert 2002, p. 1293).

This gender difference in the tolerance of society for violence leads to very different outcomes for violent women in the criminal justice system when compared to men. These differences typically manifest in one of two ways. This abhorrent behaviour on the part of a woman may lead to a much more lax treatment in the courts, due to the perception of woman as "normally" non-violent individuals. An example of this view can be seen in a quote by a criminal court judge "...it's difficult to send a mature woman to prison. I keep thinking....hey! She's somebody's mother" (Julian, 1993, p. 343).

Alternatively, the perceived abnormality of violence among women may lead to violent women being treated with complete disregard. As Gilbert (2002, p. 1294) states, these crimes raise a societal fascination because women are seen as crossing the line of gender and engaging in masculine activities. This, in turn, may increase both violent crime by women and the rates of their recidivism because they are not getting the help that is so needed.

This violation of gender norms may, in turn, have lead to the distinct lack of research on understanding, the preventing and the policy implications surrounding the violent criminal behaviour of women. Gilbert (2002, p. 1275 as quoted by Ann Campbell 1993) stating that:

maleness and aggression have become linked to the point where it is easy to forget about women's aggression. It takes place far less often than men's, and rarely makes headlines. It is private, unrecognized and frequently misunderstood. [This discrepancy exists despite the fact that] It looks and feels different from men's...

Gilbert (2002) states that in order to understand that both men and women are in fact capable of violence there needs to be a change within the negative discourse used to deal with women and violence. If this discourse does not change, then women who are violent will never receive the proper treatment (either in or outside the penal system), nor will research evolve in terms of properly understanding why women are violent and what we as a society are going to do about this growing phenomenon.

1.8 Research Rationale

Based on the discussion outlined above, it seems clear that there exists a need for analysis of the predictors of recidivism, since scales used to measure a person's probability of recidivism are based predominantly on male offender populations, and thus ignore potential gender differences. This lack of data exists despite the fact that women have high rates of recidivism. Moreover, an analysis of the determinants of recidivism in females may be timely since the number of incarcerated females has recently increased dramatically in both the United States (e.g., Wilson *et al*, 1998) and Canada (Correctional Services Canada, 2004).

A pervasive argument can be constructed for both the technique and the subject matter of such a synthesized examination. This argument is based on the promise for this research in future prevention of recidivism, the utility of meta-analysis as the optimal technique for such an analysis, and what particular research questions are suited to analytic investigation.

1.82 Meta-Analysis as an Optimal Methodology

Meta-analysis is a technique w^{2} a long history and growing popularity. Although the term meta-analysis was first used in 1976 at the American Educational Research Association (Rosenthal & DiMatteo, 2001), the synthesis and analysis of previous research dates back to 1904, when Karl Pearson (1904), statistically pooled several findings to establish the effectiveness of inoculation against smallpox. Despite this groundbreaking analysis, the meta-analytic technique has only gained general acceptance and popularity within the past 30 years. Much of this recent recognition stems from the many advantages that this technique affords.

A meta-analysis can be seen as more than simply a statistical technique, rather,

...it is a methodology for systematically examining a body of research, carefully formulating hypotheses, conducting an exhaustive search and establishing inclusion/exclusion criteria for articles, recording and statistically synthesising and combining data and effect sizes from these studies, searching for moderator variables to explain effects of interest and reporting results... (Rosenthal & DiMatteo 2001, p.62).

Using the meta-analytic method, eligible research studies are viewed as a population to be systematically sampled and surveyed. Individual study results, along with any moderator variables (e.g., race, gender and age) are then quantified and coded, and assembled into a database that is statistically analyzed (Lipsey & Wilson, 1993). The main statistic presented in a meta-analysis is the mean effect size, which is meant to reflect the average individual effect size across the sample of studies included in the synthesis, as indexed with the effect size estimate d (Cohen, 1988). Through the use of this index, meta-analysis provides tools for the analysis of both the magnitude and

consistency of effects. A meta-analysis in this case will prove to be useful in that it will help overcome some of the controversy found throughout this body of literature.

A meta-analysis is a useful tool in order to study recidivism for many reasons. Rosenthal and DiMatteo (2001, pg. 59) summarize these advantages as:

> (a) revealing the "landscape" of a research domain, (b) keeping statistical significance in perspective, (c) minimizing wasted data, (d) becoming intimate with the data summarized, (e) attending carefully to how independent and dependent variables are measured and operationally defined, (f) asking focused research questions, and (g) finding moderator variables.

Moreover, they make a convincing claim that any of the limitations of meta-analysis are also inherent to (and fewer in number than) traditional, non-quantitative, narrative reviews of the literature. As summated by Rosenthal and DiMatteo (2001, p. 69),

At this point in the extensive proliferation of research...anyone who is considering a review of the literature has little justification for not doing it quantitatively. All the valuable aspects of narrative reviews can be preserved in meta-analysis, and quantitative features can be added.

1.83 Research Questions

Given the clear need for a synthesis of the accumulated data concerning recidivism, and the advantages of approaching such a synthesis using quantitative, rather than conventional, review techniques, the specific goals of this analysis can be outlined. The current analysis will be guided by four essential questions:

- (1) To what degree can actuarial (i.e., demographic/historical) variables expose a "profile" that can distinguish violent and non-violent recidivists to provide unique predictors of violence?
- (2) To what degree can these same variables distinguish those offenders most likely to recidivate, independent of violence?
- (3) How are these predictors of both violence and recidivism affected by gender?
- (4) How do moderator variables across studies (i.e., study characteristics such as the country in which the sample was drawn or the length of time that participants were followed longitudinally) affect the results that these studies typically report?
 Addressing these questions promises to add critical data to understanding the complex interplay between gender and violence and their impact on the probability that an incarcerated individual will reoffend.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

Standard meta-analytic techniques will be employed in this review of the literature on the effects of gender and recidivism (see Cooper & Hedges, 1994; Hedges & Olkin, 1985; Rosenthal, 1995; Wolf, 1986). If this analysis shows consistency in any variables across studies, it may provide a more secure foundation from which to argue for specific types of treatment or rehabilitation programs. In addition, a meta-analysis provides tools for the analysis of magnitude and consistency of effects, as indexed with the effect size estimate d (Cohen, 1988). This index is meant to reflect the degree to which the dependant variable is present in the sample group or the degree to which the

null hypothesis (a statement that there is no relationship between variables) is false (Cohen, 1988). As violent offences appear to reflect gender differences, violent and nonviolent offences will be separated. In mathematical terms, *d* is the difference between two means in pooled standard deviation units. The effect size would be equal to the average recidivism rates for violent offenders versus the average recidivism rate for nonviolent offenders, divided by the pooled standard deviation. This will be done twice, once for men and then once for women. The pooled standard deviation can best be explained as nothing more that a weighted average of the two groups.

Eligible research studies (see below for criteria) are viewed as a population to be systematically sampled and surveyed. Individual study results, along with any moderator variables (e.g., race, gender and age) are then quantified and coded, and assembled into a database that is statistically analysed (Lipsey & Wilson, 1993). In addition, correlating moderator variables with the effect size can separate relationships of subject or study characteristics that may influence the magnitude of the effect size between groups.

2.1 Study Inclusion Criteria

Studies were included provide they met a number of criteria. Foremost, studies had to include recidivism rates for men and women, or only men or only women, as well as demographic variables (e.g., age, race, education) independently for both men and women. In addition, the above statistic had to have separate estimates given on violent crime, for example, if a study was unable to distinguish between violent and non-violent crime it was excluded. For the purpose of this study violent crime will be considered as any crime against a person, such as robbery, assault, and homicide, use of a weapon and threats of violence (Bonta *et al.*, 1998). Studies that have used a complete breakdown of all violent crimes (e.g., Archwamety & Katsiyannis, 1998) were preferred because it was simpler to extract all violent crimes. However, all studies were used in which a detailed breakdown of both gender and violence was present, in total there were 49 published studies that fit this criteria and were used for this meta-analysis.

When considering violent crime, sexual assault, violent sexual assault and molestation were excluded. This exclusion was necessary for two reasons beyond limiting the study to a feasible amount of data. Foremost women are almost non-existent in the literature for committing violent sexual assaults; rather, they are almost exclusively the victims of such acts. In addition, the recidivism rates for sexual offences are harder to measure because of the high rate of unpredictability of the statistic (many of which are vast underestimates), because so many of the cases go unreported by the victim (Matthews & Pitts, 1998, pg.5). Additional inclusion criteria were that studies were original studies written in English and published in peer-reviewed journals, and included statistics that lend themselves to conversion to Cohen's *d* (see below).

2.2 Literature Search

The systematic literature review began with a manual search through journals publishing a high volume of relevant papers as recommended (Cooper & Hedges, 1994). This was completed with every issue year by year covering all relevant publications from 1970 to 2004 for the following journals: *British Journal of Criminology*, , *Criminology*, Crime and Justice, Probation Journal, Prison Journal, Psychological Bulletin, Journal of Substance Abuse and Treatment, Journal of Child and Family Studies, Journal of Deviance, Journal of Psychology, Law and Psychiatry, Crime and Delinquency, The American Journal of Criminology, The American Journal of Social Psychiatry, Journal of Interpersonal Violence, Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, Psychiatric Research, Child Abuse & Neglect, science, and Forensic Science International. In addition, to reduce the likelihood of bias in the manual search, potential studies were also located using the PsychInfo, Medline, Pub med, Sociofile, and Science Citation Index databases. The key words used in the database search were "recidivism", "recidivism and violent crime", "violent crime and women", "gender differences and crime", "reoffending", "assault", "men and assault", "men and violent crime", "women and assault", "women and violent crime", "gender differences and prison", "failure" and "recidivist". As well a full investigation was done on all of the references of each article. Research began in February 2004 and ended in December 2004. Studies were obtained through the libraries of Lakehead University, the University of Toronto, and through interlibrary loan.

The current analysis resulted in 65 effect sizes calculating contrasts between violent recidivists and non-recidivists (including 57,863 males and 19, 967 females), and 60 effect sizes contrasting violent recidivists with non-violent recidivists (including 16, 112 males and 2,255 females). These effect sizes were calculated from the 49 published studies that met the criteria for inclusion in the present analysis (see Appendix A).

2.3 Dependent Variables

In all studies that met the preceding inclusion criteria, several dependent variables were recorded. The purpose was to include as many variables as possible from the studies, and if one study has more than one variable, then the effect size of each variable went into this analysis. Some published meta-analyses have opted not to include multiple contrasts from a single study (e.g., Kulik & Kulik, 1982; Harris & Rosenthal, 1985), while several others have (e.g., Smith & Glass, 1980; Glass, McGaw, & Smith, 1981). The current study will include multiple contrasts based on many different variables. In the formula below, violent recidivists were always used as the experimental group, such that positive effect sizes indicated that violent recidivists were (on average) greater than their comparison group (i.e., either non-recidivists or non-violent recidivists) on the dependent variable. All measures were quantified and analysed at the aggregate (rather than individual) level. In addition, the full study reference and any moderator variables were recorded for moderator variable analysis (see below). Each dependent variable was extracted from its original reference and quantified as detailed below.

2.31 Proportion of Recidivists

The number of recidivists was quantified using the proportion of the entire study population that fit within each of the contrasted categories (i.e., violent recidivists vs. non-recidivists, and violent recidivists vs. non-violent recidivists). This was done in all studies in which random populations were used. In this case, random population is meant

to describe a population which was selected and followed prior to release, with no knowledge beforehand of which individuals would recidivate and which individuals would not (i.e., longitudinal studies rather than case-control studies in which recidivists and non-recidivists were selected *a priori*).

2.32 Criminal History

The degree of criminal history was quantified based on indexes of the number of previous crimes. This index typically took the form of number of previous convictions, although indexes based on the number of arrests, or more complex indices taking into account the severity of the crime were also seen. Although these indexes may be distinct, the use of a method of standardization (i.e., conversion to an effect size statistic) makes these disparate indexes comparable, as long as they are measuring the same construct (in this case, the amount/degree of previous criminal activity).

2.33 Violent Criminal History

In any cases in which criminal history was separated by the type of offence, violent offences (i.e., any non-sexual offences against a person, such as assault, battery, weapon offences, etc.) were recorded separately from general (i.e., non-violent) ones. As was seen in reports of criminal history in general, violent criminal history was typically quantified as the number of previous convictions, although other indices were also seen (e.g., the number of arrests or severity of previously committed crimes).

2.34 Drug Use

In most cases, drug use was quantified based on the proportion of each population (i.e., violent recidivists, non-violent recidivists, and non-recidivists) that had self-reported histories of substance use or abuse. This variable was also occasionally quantified based on the proportion of individuals in some form of drug-treatment program.

2.35 Alcohol Use

In any cases in which substance use among each population (i.e., non-recidivists, violent recidivists, and non-violent recidivists) was recorded with distinct breakdown of alcohol use vs. the use of other drugs, effect sizes were calculated separately based on the amount of alcohol use. This was typically reported as the amount of alcohol consumed by individuals in these groups, or the proportion of people in each of these groups with self-reported alcohol problems.

2.36 Employment

Employment history was recorded, typically as the number of years employed over a limited time span (typically 1-5 years) prior to arrest or conviction. This variable was also occasionally quantified on an ordinal scale intending to reflect the consistency of each individual's employment history. Thus, these scales typically ranged from categories such as "never employed" to "having stable employment".

2.37 Marital Status

This variable was quantified as the proportion of individuals within each group that were married (and occasionally including unmarried participants who report having a spouse and living as common law) vs. those that were not.

2.78 Education

The level of education was recorded as the total number of years of schooling. That is, for those participants with grade- or high-school education, the latest grade completed was recorded. In those participants with post-secondary education, the number of years of post-secondary education plus 12 (the number of years of primary and secondary school) was recorded.

2.39 Socio-economic Status

Socio-economic status was typically quantified based on the mean preincarceration income level. This variable was also occasionally quantified based on an ordinal scale (e.g., poverty, low-middle class, middle class, upper-middle class, etc.) based on consolidated information about the stability of employment and job description.

2.310 Age

The mean age of individuals within each group (i.e., non-recidivists, violent recidivists, and non-violent recidivists) at the time of their index offence (i.e., age at first offence) was quantified in years for calculation of effect sizes.

2.311 Antisocial Personality

This factor was typically quantified based on the mean scores from evaluation and/or standardized testing by psychological or other staff prior to trial. Data from such tests are typically reported in terms of effect sizes. Antisocial behaviour was also sometimes quantified based on a *post hoc* scoring of the records of each inmate's behaviour during incarceration.

2.312 Sentence Length

The length of the latest sentence served (i.e., the sentence currently being served at the time that participants are recruited for longitudinal examination) was quantified by number of months for calculation of effect sizes.

2.313 Depression

Similar to scores for anti-social behaviour, depression was quantified either via the mean scores from evaluation and/or standardized testing by psychological or other staff prior to trial, or from scoring of the records of each inmate's behaviour during incarceration.

2.4 Effect Size Calculation

If the research paper met the preceding criteria, the *d* statistic (Cohen, 1988) was derived for each comparison from means and standard deviations whenever they were present using the following formula (see Wolf, 1986):

$$d = \frac{\overline{x_1 - x_2}}{Sd_{pooled}}$$

In the above formula, X_1 denotes the experimental group (violent recidivists) — mean while X_2 denotes the control group mean (non-violent recidivists). The pooled standard deviation is Sd_{pooled}.

In addition to descriptive statistics (which allow the researcher to organize data in a meaningful way), effect sizes were calculated from exact values for statistical tests [i.e., χ^2 , t, F (one-way only) – see Wolf, 1986]. Inferential statistics allow the researcher to make decisions about the characteristics of a population based on observations (i.e., statistically significant differences) of that population. All effect sizes were calculated using the Effect size calculator (freely available for download at http://mason.gmu.edu/~dwilsonb/ma.html), created by Dr. D. B. Wilson.

It is important to note that there exist many options for calculating effect sizes, such as the logged odds-ratio (Lipsey & Wilson, 2001), and Rosenthal's r (Rosenthal & DiMatteo, 2001). However, the most widely-used methods for effect size calculations are based on the same family of variables – Cohen's d, and Hedge's g, and Glass's Δ (see Rosenthal & DiMatteo, 2001, p. 71, for formulae and explanations). Although all of these methods are widely used, Cohen's d has a distinct advantage over these other means of effect size calculations. While all of these methods use the difference in the mean of two groups in the numerator of their equation, only Cohen's d uses a pooled estimate of the variance in the denominator.

46

This provides Cohen's *d* with a distinct advantage over measures such as Glass's Δ , which only uses the control group variance in the calculation. In situations in which the variance of the two groups is dramatically different, Glass's Δ will systematically over-estimate the size of the effect. In many cases, such as when dealing with clinical populations, it is known that the variance of the experimental group will be far larger than that of "normal" controls, and so Cohen's *d* is typically the measure of choice in these types of analyses (where one group will be very different from the other group). Based on this strength, Cohen's *d* was chosen for the current meta-analysis. Since there is very little data on many of these groups (especially female recidivists), it is probable that the variance of each of these groups will be dramatically different (at least there is no basis to assume comparable variances) and thus Cohen's *d* remained the ideal measure to use here.

2.5 Effect Size Weighting

In order to accurately average across studies that have large differences in the size of their samples (and thus their sampling error), it is necessary to weight the effect sizes gathered (Lipsey & Wilson, 2001). An effect size based on a larger sample is a more "precise" estimate of the population effect size, by virtue of the fact that the estimate from the larger sample size contains less sampling error. Hedges (1982) has shown that the optimal paradigm for weighting effect sizes across studies is by the inverse variance. This weighting incorporates the standard error (SE), which is a direct index of effect size precision. The inverse variance weight (w) for each study is given by the formula (see Hedges, 1982):

$$w = \frac{1}{SE^2}$$

Where the standard error of Cohen's *d* is given by:

$$SE = \sqrt{\frac{n_1 + n_2}{n_1 n_2}} + \frac{d}{2(n_1 + n_2)}$$

In the above formula, n_1 denotes the number of subject in the experimental population (i.e., either violent or non-violent recidivists), while n_2 denotes the sample size of the control (i.e., non-recidivist) group. Within this weighting paradigm, the mean weighted effect size and its associated SE are given by the following formulae:

$$\overline{d} = \frac{\sum(w \times d)}{\sum w} \qquad \qquad SE_{\overline{d}} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{\sum w}}$$

And the statistical significance of the combined effect size estimate is given by a Z-test:

$$Z = \frac{\overline{d}}{SE_{\overline{d}}}$$

2.6 Homogeneity of Variance Analysis

Homogeneity analysis tests the assumptions that all of the effect sizes are estimating the same population mean. If the distribution of the effect sizes is heterogeneous, then there are real differences between studies, that is, studies estimate different population mean effect sizes. Thus, a single mean effect size is not a good descriptor of the distribution. This is based on the statistic Q (see Lipsey & Wilson, 2001), which is distributed as a χ^2 (df = number of effect sizes-1):

$$Q = \sum w_i (d_i - \overline{d})^2$$

Gender differences are of particular interest in the current analysis. In order to assess the potential differences between these two groups, an analog to the one-way ANOVA utilizing Q (see Lipsey & Wilson, 2001) will be used to assess the homogeneity within each category (men versus women) and to assess whether a significant amount of variance is explained by this dichotomy. Briefly, a separate Q is assessed for each gender (i.e., male and female) individually. The sum of both group Qs = Q_{within} (df = number of effect sizes -2), while the $Q_{between} = Q_{total} - Q_{within}$ (df = 1). This procedure allows for both an assessment of the homogeneity of variance and the utility of the broad gender categorization implemented presently.

2.7 Moderator Variable Analysis

Effect sizes in which a significant amount of heterogeneity remained after partitioning the variance according to the procedures above were subjected to moderator variable analysis according to the methods of Lipsey and Wilson (2001). Briefly, this is done using an inverse-variance weighted regression. That is, a weighted least-squares multiple regression using the inverse variance weight (i.e., w as described in section 2.5) as the weighting factor. Put simply, this is a regression where each case is weighted based on the amount of sampling error in each study. A regression analysis was conducted (also based on Q), to assess the effects of moderator variables. In this analysis, Q is partitioned into a Q for the regression model (indicating if the model explains a significant portion of the variance across effect sizes), and a residual Q (indicating if the remaining variability across effect sizes is homogeneous).

The moderator variables used in this study were education, age, sentence length, followup, and ethnicity.

2.71 Ethnicity

In any case in which the ethnic composition of the sample was reported in a study, this factor was recorded. The ethnicity of a particular study was quantified based on the proportion of the sample population of each study that was Caucasian, Black, Hispanic, Asian, Aboriginal and "other". Thus, six moderator variables were created, consisting of each of the ethnic groups described, and the proportion of each sample that was a member of that particular ethnic group was regressed individually against any heterogeneous effect sizes. In order to prevent issues of multicollinearity, the "other" variable was not entered into the regression, since the proportion of subjects fitting the category of "other" is simply one minus the sum of the proportions of all other ethnic classifications.

2.72 Nationality

The nationality of a study was recorded based on the country in which the study was conducted. These nominal variables were "dummy-coded" for subsequent regression analysis (see Neter, Kutner, Wasserman, Nachtsheim, & Neter, 1996, for a detailed description of dummy-coding in multiple linear regressions). Nationality was divided into three categories, labelled "USA", "Canada", and "Other" For both "USA" and "Canada", studies originating from that country were designated as "1", while studies originating from any other country were designated "0". Any study originating from a country other than Canada and the USA (i.e., England, Finland, Sweden, and Turkey) was used as a reference category. For nationality, two dummy variables, one is USA (if based on American population =1, otherwise = 0) and the other is Canada (if based on Canadian population =1, otherwise =0), have been used in the regression analysis.

51

2.73 Follow-up

The length of follow-up was quantified in terms of the number of months from the beginning of a study to the end (in the case of longitudinal data). In the instance that there was not a longitudinal study, the number of months were recorded based upon that particular researcher's discretion (as each study may be different) as to the amount of time over which a person's criminal record was followed.

3. RESULTS

As stated in section 2.2, the current analysis has produced 65 effect sizes contrasting violent recidivists with non-recidivist, and 60 effect sizes contrasting violent recidivists with non-violent recidivists. The results of the comparisons between each pair of groups (i.e., violent recidivists vs. non-recidivists as well as violent recidivists vs. nonviolent recidivists) will be detailed in turn below. Within each broad category of contrasts, the analyses will begin with an assessment of the homogeneity of the variance within each of the variables described in section 2.3 (i.e., proportion of recidivists, criminal history, etc.). Following this analysis, the magnitude and direction of effects which are homogeneous across gender will be described. Any variables which demonstrated significant heterogeneity will be further examined. Initially, these factors will be analysed for any potential effects of gender. Further moderator variable analysis will then be conducted for any factor which either shows no significant gender difference, or remains significantly heterogeneous following gender analysis. Finally, any effect

52

sizes which are available only for males will be described and (if heterogeneous) will be further analysed for the effects of any moderator variables.

3.1 Violent Recidivists vs. Non-Recidivists

3.11 Global Homogeneity of Variance Testing

Formal testing for homogeneity of variance revealed several distinct clusters of effect sizes (see Table 1). For drug use, the distribution of effect sizes was found to be homogeneous ($p_{Qtotal} > 0.05$ – see Table 1), indicating that these factors affect the probability of recidivism equally for both men and women. That is, while they appear to have a significant impact on an individual's risk of recidivism, they do so regardless of gender.

Unfortunately, in a second group of variables (i.e., alcohol use, antisocial behaviour, depression, marital status, employment, sentence length, and education), effect sizes were only available for males, and thus gender effects could not be assessed.

A third group of variables [i.e., proportion of recidivists, criminal history (both general and violent), socio-economic status, and age] show significant global heterogeneity (as indicated by a significant Q_{total} – see Table 1), indicating the need for further analysis. Each of these clusters of variables will be analyzed in turn below.

Table 1. Homogeneity of Variance and ANOVA-Equivalent Tests for Violent Recidivists

	QTOTAL	df	QBETWEEN	df	QMEN	Df	QWOMEN	df
Violent Recidivists vs. Non- Recidivists								
Number of Recidivists	758.937***	23	139.242***	1	475.614***	16	144.081***	6
Criminal History	28.910**	12	1.353	1				
Violent Criminal History				1	26.138***	4		
Drug Use	6.831	4		1				
Alcohol Abuse				1	1.216	1		
Education				1	6.282	3	· ·	
Socio-economic Status				1	23.472***	2		
Age	164.129***	9	16.471***	1	129.464***	7	18.193***	1
Antisocial Behaviour				1	28.641***	3		
Depression				1	0.828	1		
Marital Status				1	0.152	1		
Sentence Length	7.396*	1	7.396*	1		T		
Employment				1	0.835	1		
			1	1			1	1

vs. Non-Recidivists.

* p < 0.05 ** p < 0.01

***p < 0.001

54

3.12 Magnitude and Direction of Effects which are Homogeneous across Gender

Examination of the effect sizes suggest that drug use is the factor which most consistently differentiates violent recidivists from non-recidivists, regardless of gender or other moderating factors ($d_{drug} = 0.278$, p < 0.001 – see Table 2). Thus, it seems that criminals who recidivate violently have more history with addictive substances. In addition, criminal history displayed a large positive (d = 0.375 – see Table 2) and a highly significant (p < 0.001 – see Table 2) relationship to violent recidivism which shows no significant gender differences ($Q_{between} = 1.353$; p = 0.245). Thus, it seems that those individuals with a greater history of criminal activity are more likely to recidivate violently, regardless of gender. However, this variable exhibited significant heterogeneity, and thus weighted regression was conducted to examine other moderator variables. Unfortunately, none of the moderator variables examined significantly explained the variance in this factor. Thus, a random effects model (see Lipsey & Wilson, 2001) was fit to this data.

In addition, sentence length showed no predictive ability in discriminating violent recidivists from non-recidivists (see Table 2). However, this variable exhibited significant heterogeneity, and without a greater number of available studies (n = 2), it is not possible to examine gender differences or the effects of other variables.

3.13 Gender Differences

An ANOVA-equivalent test was conducted to assess the degree in which the variance of heterogeneous variables could be accounted for by gender – one of the main contrasts within the current analysis (see Table 3). The proportion of recidivists showed

a significant gender difference ($Q_{between} = 139.2423$; p < 0.0001 – see Table 1). When the effect sizes were separated on the basis of gender, a significant negative relationship was observed for both genders, although this effect was larger for women ($d_{men} = -0.421$, $d_{women} = -0.962$ – see Table 3). Despite the significance, regression must be conducted, since significant heterogeneity remained after separating the effect sizes based on gender ($Q_{men} = 475.61416$, $Q_{women} = 144.081$, p < 0.001 – see Table 1). In men, the variance in the proportion of violent recidivists was accounted for by changes in race (as indexed by the proportion of each study sample that is white), as well as the length of follow up, across studies ($Q_{model} = 80.543$, p < 0.001 – see Table 4). Thus, studies with the largest minority populations as well as the longest follow-up period report the greatest number of violent recidivists. However, it is likely that other unavailable moderator variables exist, since significant heterogeneity remained following moderator analysis ($Q_{residual} = 5.759$, p < 0.001)

In women, follow-up also significantly predicted ($Q_{model} = 15.051$, p < 0.01 – see Table 4) the proportion of violent recidivists, but with the opposite trend – studies with the shortest follow-up found the greatest relative proportion of violent recidivists. It is important to note that this effect does not mean that there are fewer female violent recidivists over longer periods of time. The number of violent recidivists is not diminishing *per se*, as these are **independent** effects observed across a large number of studies. Across studies, the longer women are followed within a study the less likely they are to recidivate violently.

Table 2. Effect Sizes Detailing Actuarial Differences Among Violent Recidivists vs.

Non-Recidivists.

Variable	N_d^{-1}	Weighted ²	Z
Proportion of Recidivists	24	-0.529 (0.018)	-28.833***
Criminal History	13	0.375 (0.036)	10.363***
Violent Criminal History	5	0.290 (0.070)	4.127***
Drug Use	5	0.278 (0.046)	6.078***
Alcohol Abuse	2	0.272 (0.107)	2.546*
Education	4	0.058 (0.070)	0.828
Socio-economic Status	3	-0.116 (0.084)	-1.375
Age	10	-0.096 (0.036)	-2.646**
Antisocial Behaviour	4	0.068 (0.074)	0.919
Depression	2	0.013 (0.100)	0.131
Marital Status	2	-0.391 (0.108)	-3.622***
Sentence Length	2	0.129 (0.157)	0.824
Employment	2	-0.016 (0.106)	-0.1546

¹ N_d provides the total number of included effect sizes.

² Data presented as mean weighted effect size (standard error).

* p < 0.05

** p < 0.01

***p < 0.001

A similar trend was seen in age, which also showed a significant gender difference ($Q_{between} = 16.47$; p < 0.001 – see Table 2). When effect sizes were separated based on gender, age showed no ability to differentiate male violent recidivists from nonrecidivists (see Table 3), but showed a significant negative relationship (d = -0.282, p < 0.001) with violent recidivism in women. Thus, female violent recidivists tended to be younger than their non-recidivist counterparts. However, due to significant residual heterogeneity ($Q_{men} = 129.464$, p < 0.001; $Q_{women} = 18.193$, p < 0.001 – see Table 1), regression analysis was conducted. In men, the country in which the study was conducted in, as well as the follow-up length significantly predicted this variance (Q_{model} = 14.026 – see Table 4). Thus, while violent recidivists tend to be older than their nonrecidivist counterparts, this difference was smallest in studies with the longest follow-up periods. This difference also tended to be smaller in studies conducted in the U.S.A. than in other countries (i.e., Canada, England, Finland, Sweden, and Turkey). Unfortunately, significant heterogeneity remained following the regression which could not be linked to any moderator variables ($Q_{residual} = 24.624$ – see Table 4).

In addition, sentence length showed a significant geread difference ($Q_{betweer}$ 7.396, p < 0.05 – see Table 1). Which tells us that when the matrix sizes were separated based on gender, sentence length showed no significant encoded violent recidivists and non-recidivists in men, but in we den a significant positive relationship was observed (d = 0.623). Thus, those means serving longer sentences in prison were more likely to recidivate violent. Unfortunately, a lack of sufficient sample size (n = 2) precluded more detailed regression analysis.

3.14 Male-Only Effects

For several variables, effect sizes were only available for males. Of these variables, two differentiated violent recidivists from non-recidivists – alcohol abuse and martial status. Alcohol abuse showed a positive (d = 0.272 – see Table 2) and significant (p < 0.05 – Table 2) relationship with violent recidivists. Thus, violent recidivists (when compared to non-recidivists) have a greater history of alcohol use and/or abuse. Conversely, marital status showed a significant negative relationship with violent recidivists (d = -0.391; p < 0.001 – see Table 2). Moreover, this variable was the largest effect seen, with the exception of changes in the proportion of recidivists (see Table 2). Thus, it seems that violent recidivists are far less likely to be married than non-recidivists.

Similarly, violent criminal history has a significant positive (d = 0.290; p < 0.001 – see Table 2) effect on violent recidivism. Moreover, this relationship was significantly heterogeneous ($Q_{total} = 26.14$; p < 0.001 – see Table 1), and thus required subsequent regression analysis. This analysis revealed that the duration of follow-up explained this variance ($Q_{model} = 4.557$, p < 0.05 – see Table 4). Thus, violent recidivists have a greater violent criminal history than non-recidivists, and studies with longer follow-ups show this difference in greater magnitude. Unfortunately, significant heterogeneity remains in this distribution ($Q_{residual} = 4.108$; p < 0.05 – see Table 4), which cannot as yet be explained.

In addition, several of these variables, such as education, antisocial behaviour, socio-economic status, depression, and employment showed no significant relationship with violent recidivism (see Table 2). However, since antisocial behaviour exhibited significant heterogeneity ($Q_{men} = 28.641$; p < 0.001 – see Table 1), there may be unknown moderator variables affecting this aspect of recidivism.

59

Table 3. Effect Sizes Detailing Actuarial Differences among Violent Recidivists vs. Non-Recidivists Parsed By Gender.

	Men				Women				
	N_d^{-1}	Weighted ²	Z	95% CI ³	N_d^{-1}	Weighted ²	Z	95% CI ³	
Proportion of Recidivists	17	-0.421 (0.021)	-20.538***	-0.461/381	7	-0.962 (0.041)	-23.426***	-1.043/-0.882	
Age	8	0.021 (0.046)	0.451	-0.070/0.112	2	-0.282 (0.058)	-4.824***	-0.396/-0.167	
Sentence Length	1	-0.239 (0.207)	-1.154	-0.645/0.167	1	0.623 (0.240)	2.597**	0.153/1.093	

- 1 N_d, N_{EXP}, and N_{CONT} provide the total number of included studies, experimental subjects, and control subjects (respectively) for each morphological parameter.
- ² Data presented as mean weighted effect size (standard error).
- ³ Range is presented as minimum/maximum unweighted effect size
- * p < 0.05
- ** p < 0.01
- ***p < 0.001

<u>Table 4.</u> Inverse Variance Weighted Regression Analyses of Heterogeneous Effects in Violent Recidivists vs. Non-Recidivists.

Variable	Proportion of Recidivists (men only)	Proportion of Recidivists (women only)	Violent Criminal History (men only)	Age (men only)
Model				
Q _{MODEL}	80.543***	15.051***	4.557*	14.026***
QRESIDUAL	5.759*	0.968	4.108*	24.624***
Predictors				
Constant	1.939 (0.267)	-0.222 (0.291)	-0.330 (0.272)	0.371 (0.128)
Z	7.274***	-0.760	-1.215	2.878**
USA ²				-0.476 (0.154)
Z				-3.089**
Caucasian	-7.601 (0.881)			
Z	-8.6290***			
Follow-up	0.007 (0.001)	-0.024 (0.006)	0.008 (0.004)	-0.007 (0.002)
Z	6.015***	-3.880***	2.135*	-3.187**

¹ Presented as unstandardized estimate (standard error).

2 See section 2.72 for a description of how this variable was dummy-coded

* p < 0.05

** p < 0.01

*** p < 0.001

3.2 Violent Recidivists vs. Non-Violent Recidivists

3.21 Global Homogeneity of Variance Testing

Similar to the results contrasting violent recidivists with non-recidivists, formal testing for homogeneity of variance revealed several distinct clusters of effect sizes (see Table 5). For one demographic variable (drug use), the distribution of effect sizes was found to be homogeneous across genders, indicating that this factor affects the probability of recidivism equally for both men and women.

Unfortunately, in a second group of variables (i.e., education, socio-economic status, age, antisocial behaviour, marital status, and employment), effect sizes were only available for males.

A third group of variables (i.e., proportion of recidivists and violent criminal history) show significant global heterogeneity (as indicated by a significant Q_{total} – see Table 5), indicating the need for further analysis. Each of these clusters of variables will be analyzed in turn below.

3.22 Magnitude and Direction of Effects which are Homogeneous across Gender

When comparing violent recidivists with non-violent ones, the only variable which showed a homogeneous distribution between genders was drug use ($Q_{between} = 0.6604$, p > 0.05). Unfortunately, the aggregated data indicate that this variable is unable to distinguish violent and non-violent recidivists (d = 0.098, p > 0.05 – see Table 6).

62

Table 5. Homogeneity of Variance and ANOVA-Equivalent Tests for Violent Recidivists

vs. Non-Violent Recidivists.	
------------------------------	--

	QTOTAL	df	QBETWEEN	df	Q _{MEN}	Df	Q _{WOMEN}	Df
Violent Recidivists vs. Non-violent Recidivists								
Number of Recidivists	327.078***	21	2.843*	1	319.402***	17	4.833	3
Criminal History					60.678***	4		
Violent Criminal	40.385***	4	12.088***	1	28.297***	3		
History								
Drug Use	64.433***	6	0.6604	1				
Education				1	27.570***	3		
Socio-Economic Status				1	5.109	2		
· Age				· 1	21.363***	5		
Antisocial Behaviour				1	1.005	1		
Marital Status		1		1	2.508	1		
Employment				1	3.957*	1		
		<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	L	1

* p < 0.05

** p < 0.01

***p < 0.001

.

3.23 Gender Differences

Although the proportion of recidivists showed a significant difference between violent and non-violent recidivists (d = -0.790, p < 0.05 – see Table 6), this variable exhibited a significant gender difference ($Q_{between} = 2.84$; p < 0.05 – see Table 5). When the effect sizes gathered from each gender are analysed separately, a significant negative effect size is observed in both men and women, although this effect is marginally larger in women ($d_{men} = -0.780$, $d_{women} = -0.944$ – see Table 7). Moreover, while this relationship seems unaffected by moderator variables in women ($Q_{women} = 4.883$, p > 0.05 – see Table 5), there was significant heterogeneity in men ($Q_{men} = 319.402$, p < 0.001 – see Table 5). Due to heterogeneity, a regression analysis was conducted, suggesting that the variance in this variable is accounted for by race ($Q_{model} = 7.454$, p < 0.01; $Q_{residual} = 0.225$, p > 0.05 – see Table 8). Thus, while the proportion of violent recidivists is generally much smaller than the proportion of non-violent recidivists across both male and female samples, this difference is smaller in males in general and significantly smaller in male samples.

Violent criminal history showed a significant gender difference ($Q_{between} = 12.09$; p < 0.001 – Table 5). In fact, these effect sizes show differences in opposing directions depending on whether the analysis was restricted to men or women ($d_{men} = 0.571$; d_{women} = -1.560 – see Table 7). Thus, while male violent recidivists have a greater violent criminal history than their non-violent recidivist counterparts, females show the opposite trend – violently recidivistic females have less violent criminal history. That is, women with more violent criminal history tend to recidivate with non-violent crimes (See discussion section 4.51 for more detail).

<u>Table 6.</u> Effect Sizes Detailing Actuarial Differences Among Violent Recidivists vs. Non-Violent Recidivists.

	N_d^{-1}	Weighted ²	Z
Violent Recidivists vs. Non- violent Recidivists			
Proportion of Recidivists	22	-0.790 (0.023)	-34.348***
Criminal History	5	0.509 (0.070)	7.271***
Violent Criminal History	5	0.544 (0.069)	7.848***
Drug Use	7	0.098 (0.055)	1.782
Education	4	-0.040 (0.063)	-0.629
Socio-economic Status	3	-0.070 (0.061)	-1.148
Age	6	0.001 (0.070)	0.020
Antisocial Behaviour	2	0.410 (0.162)	2.539*
Marital Status	2	0.006 (0.163)	0.038
Employment	2	-0.129 (0.155)	-0.831
	1		A

¹ N_d provides the total number of included effect sizes.

² Data presented as mean weighted effect size (standard error).

* p < 0.05

** p < 0.01

***p < 0.001

3.24 Male-Only Effects

The majority of data that was available in male populations (i.e., education, socioeconomic status, age, marital status, and employment) showed no ability to significantly discriminate violent recidivists from non-violent recidivists (see Table 6). However, several variables (i.e., education, age, and employment) showed a positive significant heterogeneity (see Table 5), and thus may require further investigation for other underlying moderator variables.

Two variables in which data was only available for men (criminal history and antisocial behaviour) revealed a significantly difference between violent from non-violent recidivists. Antisocial behaviour showed a significant (d = 0.410; p = 0.011 - Table 6) and homogeneous ($Q_{men} = 1.01$, p > 0.05 - Table 5) relationship with violent recidivism. Thus, violent recidivists are more likely to display antisocial behaviour. Criminal history also significantly distinguished these two groups (d = 0.509, p < 0.001 - see Table 6), although with a heterogeneous distribution ($Q_{men} = 60.678$, p < 0.001 - see Table 5). Subsequent regression analysis revealed that this variance is accounted for by sentence length ($Q_{model} = 8.943$, p < 0.01 - see Table 8). Thus, it seems that violent recidivists have, on average, a greater criminal history than non-violent recidivists, and this difference tends to be larger in studies that examine populations of prisoners serving longer sentences.

66

	IVICII					() Official				
	\mathbf{N}_d^{-1}	Weighted ²	Z	95% CI ³	N_d^{-1}	Weighted ²	Z	95% CI ³		
Proportion of Recidivists	18	-0.780 (0.023)	-33.313***	-0.826/-0.734	4	-0.944 (0.095)	-9.993***	-1.130/-0.759		
Violent Criminal History	4	0.571 (0.070)	8.192***	0.435/0.708	1	-1.566 (0.611)	-2.564*	-2.763/-0.369		

- ¹ N_d , N_{EXP} , and N_{CONT} provide the total number of included studies, experimental subjects, and control subjects (respectively) for each morphological parameter.
- ² Data presented as mean weighted effect size (standard error).
- ³ Range is presented as minimum/maximum unweighted effect size
- * p < 0.05
- ** p < 0.01
- ***p < 0.001

Table 8. Inverse Variance Weighted Regression Analyses of Heterogeneous Effects in

Variable	Proportion of Recidivists (men only)	Criminal History (both genders)	Drug Use (both genders)	Education (men only)	Socio-economic Status (men only)
Model					
Qmodel	7.454**	8.943**	5.605*	26.231***	4.639*
QRESIDUAL	6.947	1.000	0.858	1.339	0.470
Predictors			•		
Constant	-1.245 (0.099)	-0.218 (0.264)	-3.043 (1.492)	0.665 (0.152)	0.222 (0.149)
Z	-12.593***	-0.827	-2.040*	4.387***	1.493
Caucasian	0.796 (0.292)				
Z	2.730**				
Sentence Length		0.102 (0.034)			
Z		2.991**			
Age			0.118 (0.050)		
Z			2.367*		
USA				-0.860 (0.168)	-0.351 (0.163)
Z			<u>+</u>	-5.108***	-2.154*
Canada				-0.784 (0.266)	
Z				-2.948**	

Violent vs. Non-Violent Recidivists.

¹ Presented as unstandardized estimate (standard error).

* p < 0.05

** p < 0.01

*** p < 0.001

4. DISCUSSION

4.1 General Discussion

It is evident from the profiles presented that differences between individuals incarcerated for both violent and non-violent offences exist in varying magnitudes. Despite these variations, however, a profile of several actuarial variables can be associated with increased or decreased tendency for future violent and non-violent recidivism.

In general, the violent recidivist can be distinguished from other groups (i.e., nonviolent recidivists and non-recidivists) largely via their criminal history. The greatest amount of violent recidivism was associated with the greatest degree of criminal history. This is especially true of violent criminal history, which remained the strongest predictor of a violent recidivist compared to both reference groups. In addition, antisocial · personality traits seemed to have distinguished violent from non-violent recidivists, but does not distinguish violent recidivists from non-recidivists. This may be because, in a large number of the studies synthesized, the non-recidivist group was composed of individuals that were imprisoned for violent first offences (explained in more detail below). Given this profile, discussion can now return to the original questions guiding this meta-analysis.

4.2 Unique Predictors of Violence

One of the key questions guiding the current meta-analysis concerns whether there exist unique predictors that differentiate the violent recidivist from his/her nonviolent counterpart. By dealing with a population made up entirely of convicted criminals, one can parse out those factors that are uniquely predictive of violence (i.e., factors which differentiate violent recidivists from **both** non-violent recidivists and nonrecidivists) versus those which are uniquely predictive of recidivism (i.e., factors which differentiate violent recidivists from non-recidivists and **not** non-violent recidivists). More simply stated this analysis will attempt to examine how these predictors may be unique to violence *per se*, rather than to recidivism *per se*. Each of these types of predictors will be dealt with below.

Within the results described above, there exist a number of factors that appear to be very strong predictors of violent recidivism. These factors include criminal history, violent criminal history, and anti-social behaviour.

Among these variables, the strongest predictor of violent recidivism is a history of violence (see Table 2). This finding supports previous assertions that the best predictor of future violence is a violent history (Lang *et al.*, 1987). These data, however, cannot speak to the origins of such a violent history. Such a critical understanding is likely to come only from detailed qualitative analysis with a group of these individuals. These data do, however, underscore the notion that there is an inherent "profile" of the violent person that is constructed long before the index offence.

Anti-social personality was a significant predictor of violent recidivism in males (see Table 1). A much larger meta-analysis conducted by Gendreau *et al*, (1996) had similar findings. That is, anti-social personality traits distinguished violent recidivists from non-violent recidivists. Underscoring the notion described above, much of the literature on anti-social behaviours begins with adolescent behaviours. For instance, Piquero and Chung (2001), state that there is continuity in anti-social behaviour from birth to adulthood. Anti-social behaviour in adolescence is said to be one of the largest risk factors in determining the future of criminal behaviour in women (Piquero & Chung, 2001).

This notion is supported by the fact that personality traits such as antisocial tendencies/behaviours are also able to predict which individuals are likely to commit a large number of violent offences. These personality traits are likely the product of learning early in the life course (Holmes & Holmes, 1996). Such results, again, support much of the focus of recent research on understanding personality characteristics of individual offenders. Many of these unique qualities may be found in a person's values and morals (Holmes & Holmes, 1996). For instance, according to Athens (1980), people who hold violent self-images tend to react to situations in a violent manner. It is important to note that in my study antisocial personality traits did not differentiate violent recidivists from non-recidivists, and thus does not qualify by the above description, as a unique qualifier of violence. This, however, may be due to a comber of reasons.

In addition to the differences that researchers may have in defining recidivism, there are many different ways to measure, define, and quantify antisocial behaviour. This variation is made more problematic because many different disciplines conduct research

on personality traits, each with different terminology and ideological traditions. For example, in studies where the assessment of anti-social personality was conducted by a psychologist or other healthcare professional, the assessment of an individual as "antisocial" is typically based on a rigid set of criteria, all of which the person must have in order to qualify as anti-social. In contrast, in studies where researchers are merely quantifying personality traits rather than using these data as the basis for a psychological diagnosis, researchers may use far less stringent definitions of what constitutes an antisocial person. Drawing a convincing link between anti-social personality traits and recidivism may be further complicated by the fact that, in many studies on the subject, both groups committed violent index offences. These differences may explain why these two largely violent groups (i.e., violent recidivists and non-recidivists, many of whom are violent offenders) could be differentiated from non-violent recidivists, but were not differentiated from each other. This further supports the notion that personality traits such as anti-social tendencies may be a distinct hallmark of violent predispositions as a discrete phenomenon, whether or not this violence manifests itself in repeat offences.

4.3 Recidivism and Gender

Gue of the most intriguing observations to be made form the current data involves those variables that show distinct dynamics for men and women. Several variables, such as violent criminal history (when considering violent recidivists vs. non-recidivists), as well as marriage, age and sentence length (when considering violent vs. non-violent recidivists) provide such unique predictions.

4.31 Violent Criminal History

These gender differences are most profound for violent criminal history, which show different trends for men and women. In men, those with the greatest violent criminal history are among those most likely to recidiviate with violence. This finding is similar to a larger meta-analysis conducted by Gendreau *et al* (1996). In women, those with the least violent criminal history were the most likely to commit violent crimes in the future.

Several salient gender differences based on gender role norms may aid in explaining this effect. Foremost among physical differences across gender, women are at a physical disadvantage in comparison to men. Individuals are most likely to engage in violence when they feel/believe that they are dealing with a physically weaker opponent. As, generally, most men are physically stronger than most women, they are more likely to be in situations where they believe their opponent is weaker. Thus, this is the situation in which the individual is most likely to instigate violence (Felson, 2002, p. 56).

Moreover, women tend to be less impulsive than men (Hannah-Moffat & Shaw, 2001), which is a predictor not only of violence in general, but situations in which a person will instigate violence towards a more powerful opponent. In addition, women may also be more likely to engage in "one-time" violent offences, such as killing an abusive husband or boyfriend (Hannah-Moffat & Shaw, 2001).

4.32 Marriage and Recidivism

As mentioned in section 1.33 most previous studies on recidivism have found a connection between marital status and recidivism. Based on the data in this study (See Section 3), the largest predictor of recidivism in general is marital status, at least in men. Those individuals who are married tend to have less risk of repeat offending than those without spouses. The underlying reasons for this association may lie in social control theories. Variations of these theories proposed by both Walter Reckless (1967) and Hirschi (1969) have stated that, in general, people can be shielded against tendencies towards deviance if they have a strong social network (i.e., peers, school, and family). Although several types of bonds (for instance, what Hirschi termed attachment, which is the development of interest in others and social conscience) are primarily developmental in origin (passed via school and parent-child relationships), some of these bonds may be learned over the course of a person's life span.

4.33 Age at First Offence

Another significant gender difference was discovered in this study when considering the age of an individuals first criminal offence. This supports many previous reports (see section 1.32) that early onset of criminal behaviour (age at first offence) is predictive of more serious criminal activity later on in life (e.g., Piquero & Chung, 2001; Tolan & Thomas, 1995). Those individuals who began committing crimes at an earlier age were found to have the highest risk of re-offending. Thus, the earlier a person starts criminal behaviour the more serious it may become, regardless of gender.

In general, women with a younger age of onset tend to be the most likely to recidiviate violently. This effect was not seen for men. This link between age of first offence and recidivism has been observed previously by several researchers (see Tolan & Thomas, 1995, and Gendreau *et al*, 1996 for discussion). However, previous studies have either examined only men or found similar effect for both men and women (Tolan & Thomas, 1995). The current results of this study, however, suggest that the effect is, in fact, non-existent for men, and predictive of future violent crime only in women. This effect, however, may not be accurately assessed using the current methods.

This type of population, while optimal for most of the variables examined here, may not be best when examining such developmental influences. Considering these discrepancies, however, it can still be concluded that the effect of age of first offence is, in fact, larger for females than males. Two possible explanations exist for this gender difference. Males with early onset [typically before the age of 12 (Tolan & Thomas, 1995, p. 157)] may have lower recidivism rates than females with an early age of first offence. By contrast, the greater effect of age on female violent recidivism may be the result of lower recidivism rates among the female late-onset cohort than the male. Put simply, this data suggests two possibilities. Among those with the earliest age of first offence, women are far more likely to recidivate violently than men. Alternatively, among those offenders with the latest age of first offence, women may recidivate less.

In explaining these options, it is important to note that an effect size describes the magnitude of a **difference** between two groups, not the group means themselves. Thus, one cannot conclude with conviction which of these two options reflects the true dynamics of age and violent recidivism without further research.

4.34 Sentence Length

Another significant gender difference found in the current analysis concerns the link between sentence length and future recidivism. In men, sentence length had no significant relationship to recidivism. However, the present data suggest that women serving longer sentences are at a greater risk for violent recidivism. The root of this gender difference may lie in Copeland's (1997) notion of double deviance. Double deviance states that when a woman has been incarcerated for a long period of time, many may lose their ties with the community, whether this is with peers, friends, or family. These social ties are said to be one of the most important factors in rehabilitation (Copeland, 1997). One of the biggest reasons for this is that women fall under the preconceived notion of female subservience. Women are "supposed" to be complacent, compliant people, and thus when they commit a crime, they are stigmatized twice, and may lose their community connections.

This previous point relates to another social factor that may contribute to the effect of sentence length on recidivistic violence in females – the fact that violence is an inherently gendered concept. That is, there is an inherent gendered nature to the discourse used to deal with women in the criminal justice system. For example, because the conceptualization within society of what attributes and behaviours are typically labelled masculine versus feminine are not equipped to incorporate the concept of female violence, the view of the woman within society has typically underscored the "anti-violent" nature of women (Gilbert, 2002, p. 1293). Thus, instead of learning about the

true nature of female violence and attempting to deal with this problem, society will deal with this problem through negative stereotypes. For example, society tends to classify women who are violent with negative connotations such as mad, bad, butch or lesbian – generally labelling her as different from "normal" women (Gilbert, 2002, p.1272).

Thus, when a women is arrested and serves time in prison, these labels create negative stereotypes that create an environment that infringes upon a woman's ability to reintegrate into a "normal" definition of her role as a woman in the world – and, thus, her ability to reintegrate into society in general. According to Gilbert (2002, p. 1295 as quoted by Inness 1999),

if masculine attributes, such as toughness, and feminine attributes, too, are conceived as free-floating signifiers that refer to either a male or female body, our whole culture is destabilized [by the presence of a violent woman] because it is based on what are perceived as the essential differences between men and women.

Moreover, these stereotypes will tend to follow her long after leaving prison. Thus, because of the gendered nature of our conceptualizations regarding violence, a woman who is violent may be treated much worse (by the criminal justice system) than a man imprisoned for a similar offence. This isolation as punishment for the violation of social norms regarding gender may create an environment that leaves the violent female vulnerable to further violence and recidivism.

Given this possible link between the violation of social norms and recidivism, why then is there a strong relationship between violent recidivism and sentence length?

It may be possible that these stigmatizations (i.e., labels which masculinize violent women or otherwise label them as abhorrent) operate along a continuum. Thus, those serving longer sentences (who presumably committed more serious violent crimes, and thus more seriously violated the social norms surrounding gender), are the ones most isolated for their violations, and are thus at the greatest risk for recidivistic violence. In addition, these negative stereotypes may interact with other, external factors that inhibit the reintegration of women into society, such as the loss of social ties (i.e., to both family and friends) as well as a lack of resources.

Another reason may be because of a breakdown of the family. Women who are released from prison may face new and unexpected parenting challenges, such as, loss of contact with their children or loss of legal guardianship. Many women can face severe strain and stress, both emotional and financial.

Women are far more likely to be living near the poverty line, and thus may be more likely to commit crime as a means of providing for themselves or their children.

In Canada women make up more that half of the people living below the poverty line (Boritch, 1997). One of the main reasons for this economic disparity between men and women may be due to long standing gender-based roles which have denied women many of the same opportunities as men (Boritch, 1997). Most of these opportunities surround both economical and independent financial freedom. In the case of divorced families a woman's income can decline up to 40 percent (Boritch, 1997, p. 14). In addition, 82 percent of single parent households are headed by the mother (Boritch, 1997, p. 14).

Aboriginal women are considered the most socially and economically marginalized segment of the Canadian population (Boritch, 1997). When a woman comes in conflict with the law, especially Aboriginal women, this becomes a glaring example of gender and racial inequality within Canadian society (Boritch, 1997, p. 14). Moreover, once a woman is released from prison, especially with a longer sentence the economic and financial responsibilities, childcare responsibilities and lack of community support can be overwhelming.

Finally, treatment programs are predominantly designed after research conducted with men, and thus may be improperly designed for women (Bonta *et al.*, 1995). Some of the biggest issues that women face exclusively are sexual abuse histories and lack of family skills, since women are typically the primary caregivers for their children. In addition, many women find it difficult to find proper employment after being incarcerated, mainly due to stigmatization or "double deviance". Because treatment programs predominantly do not deal with these issues, women are not being properly rehabilitated, and thus have higher recidivism rates than men.

4.4 Proportions of Recidivists across Studies

As stated in the introduction, many factors can affect the base rates of recidivists vs. non-recidivists within studies. An examination of some of these factors has revealed some of the most complex relationships within the analysis.

As stated in the results, most random samples drawn throughout the literature examined found relatively few violent recidivists. That is, a far greater proportion of

both non-violent recidivists and non-recidivists were found in a typical sample of inmates randomly selected for follow-up. This difference, however, was affected by a number of moderator variables for men and not women.

In men, the number of violent recidivists was significantly affected by the racial composition of the sample. This was true whether the proportion of violent recidivists was compared against non-violent recidivists or non-recidivists. The current data reveal that samples which contained a greater proportion of Caucasians had the smallest difference in the proportion of violent offenders. Although these effect size reports the **relative** difference, rather than absolute values, it may be reasonably concluded that Caucasian samples had the least violent recidivists, since this same trend was found regardless of which control group was examined (i.e., non-violent recidivists or non-recidivists).

When considering this association, it may be useful to examine urban dynamics, rather than race *per se*, when looking at race, poverty and violent crime. Crime is not necessarily a factor of a person's skin colour, but rather a factor of marginalization caused by society. It is important to note that urban dynamics was developed in an American context, and may not have similar outcomes in different countries. However, urban dynamics will be looked at since the majority of studies in this meta-analysis were American, thus, justifying this train of thought.

Violence has been linked to low socio-economic status and the residential instability of many neighbourhoods. Concentration effects such as macro-social forces (segregation) and community level factors such as poverty impact the residents living in

areas that are overwhelmingly disadvantaged (McNulty, 1999). Thomas McNulty (1999), best describes urban dynamics as:

...a residential process in which blacks are at a substantial disadvantage. This argument is assessed from an individual-level vantage point that sees the race-violence relationship in terms of the inability of blacks, regardless of class level, to gain access to communities on par with similar situated whites. Thus, blacks are more commonly found in social contexts in which the conditions that both promote criminal violence and undermine the mechanisms of social control that discourage it are more pronounced (p. 26).

A study conducted by Sampson, Raudenbush, and Earls, (1997) looked at collective efficacy and its link to decreasing violent crime in neighbourhoods. Collective efficacy can be defined as "...social cohesion among neighbours combined with their willingness to intervene on behalf of the common good..." (Sampson *et al.*, 1997, p. 918).

The authors state that rates of violent crime are not solely the attribute of demographic characteristics of the individual; rather they proposed that the differential ability of neighbourhoods to realize the values of both their fellow residents and maintain effective social controls will help to decrease rates of crime (Sampson *et al.*, 1997). This can be thought of as a type of neighbourhood watch, thus when people still have some sense of pride over where they live, crime in that neighbourhood will decrease. However

forms of decay such as graffiti, run down buildings etc. are usually places where crime is more common.

In order to understand the link between poverty and violent criminal offending and re-offending, one must look at the reasons why there is a link between poverty and violent crime. There is much research done on the link between minority status and violence, but the question is why or how living in an impoverished area may lead to violent criminal behaviour. One of the best ways of attempting to understand how area demographics are able to affect a person's behaviour is through place stratification theory. The underling premise of place stratification is:

> that hierarchies of race and place intersect to generate distinct residential outcomes among racial/ethnic groups. Specifically, this model hypothesises that there are inequalities in residential outcomes beyond that which can be explained by compositional differences among group members- a stratification that matches closely the stratification of racial/ethnic groups in American society (McNulty, 1999, p. 27).

Place stratification is defined by Alba and Logan (1993) as: "[r]acial/ethnic [*sic*] minorities are sorted by place according to their group's relative standing in society, [limiting] [*sic*] the ability of even the socially mobile members to reside in the same communities as comparable whites" (Alba & Logan, 1993, as cited by Charles, 2003; p. 182).

Thus what may happen is that many ethnic people are located in neighbourhoods in which has a lack of job opportunities, poorer schools, and high levels of poverty. This

in turn, tends to segregate people from better opportunities (McNulty, 1999). This research states that blacks are less likely than whites to escape economic distress (McNulty, 1999), and that the higher unemployment rates for blacks increases the probability of moving into lower income neighbourhoods. The stronger the residential segregation between blacks and whites (i.e., whites moving away from blacks), the less likely that black people will move into largely white areas. This is perhaps an explanation as to the race-crime relationship. An increased concentration of disadvantage opportunities may lead to violent crime (McNulty, 1999). Take for example Robert Merton's strain theory (1968), which briefly states that equal opportunities are made for all people, however in more disadvantaged neighbourhoods many opportunities are lacking, thus a person feels strain (or stress) and commits a crime in order to gain certain material possessions that they would otherwise not have.

However to recognize that a lack of legitimate opportunities alone is responsible for crime is only half of the equation. In order to understand violence one must also look at the cultural messages that tend to influence people in a violent manner (Comack, Chopyk, &Wood, 2002, p.248). Violence may be social in context, meaning that individuals may use violence as a means of power and control over another person. According to Comack *et al.* (2002, p. 246) "individuals who use violence make choices, but those choices are conditioned or contoured by their social location: in particular, by their race and class as well as their gender". An example outlined by Comack *et al.* (2002) states that Aboriginal people are overrepresented within the Canadian penal system; one reason for this is due to the large numbers of arrests based on violence between intimate partners and family members. One possible explanation for these high

statistics may go back to colonization, economic hardship, and the impact of the residential school system. When coupled with the lack of legitimate opportunities, racism, and marginalization, such conditions easily result in violence toward family members (Comack *et al.*, 2002, p. 246).

Another way in which violence may be social in context is by looking at violence as being normative (Comack *et al.*, 2002). Violence is apart of a normative understanding of masculinity. Many men are also acting out the masculine scripts that they are shown everyday on movies, television and games. Boys are also not reprimanded in the same way as girls because violence for boys is more socially acceptable.

When considering women, however, it was found that race had no effect on whether a woman would recidiviate violently. In fact, across both of the comparisons made (i.e., vs. both non-violent recidivists and non-recidivists), women tended to have higher rates of violent recidivism than their male counterparts. This, however, may be due to a racial skew within the literature concerning female recidivists. Across the data set compiled here, male recidivists (both violent and non-violent combined) were comprised of 48.8 percent whites, 47.3 percent blacks, 1.6 percent aboriginal, and 19.8 percent other ethnic backgrounds. In women, however, only 15.0 percent of those individuals included in the studies were Caucasian, while 84.0 percent were blacks, less than 1 percent were aboriginal, and 2.0 percent were from other ethnic backgrounds.

This racial skew, however, may not be an experimental bias – rather, it may reflect the inherent racial skew of the female incarcerated population. More than half the women who are in prison in the United States are of African or Hispanic origin. Banks

(2003, p.), states that 83,668 women were in prison in the United States in the year 2000. Of these women, 44 percent were African American; this is a surprising statistic considering African American women only made up 13 percent of the U.S. population in 2000. In the five-year period from 1986 to 1991, the number of African American women incarcerated rose 828 percent, mainly for drug offences.

Within the Canadian prison system Aboriginal women make up 17 percent of the entire prison population. This statistic drastically increases when looking at the Prairie Provinces where Aboriginal women make up 55.8 percent of incarcerated women. This is equally surprising since Aboriginal women make up only 3 percent of the Canadian population (Correctional Services Canada, 2003).

Another possible cause of this racial skew may be due to fact that women of a visible minority may have fewer social opportunities. Several lines of evidence suggest that these women are marginalized not only based on their race, but also their gender (Hannah-Moffat & Shaw, 2001). Thus, these women may have higher rates of recidivism due simply to the lack of equal opportunity available to them after their release.

Another significant gender difference was observed when examining the impact of follow-up period as a moderating factor in recidivism rates (Table 4). In general, studies examining male parolees for longer periods of time reported a smaller number of violent recidivists. In contrast, studies following female parolees reported a greater proportion of violent recidivists with longer follow-up periods (Table 4). It should be pointed out, however, that these effect sizes are small (ranging from 0.007 in men to 0.024 in women – less than 3 percent of the original effect in the proportion of recidivists). As such, although this finding may identify a novel direction for future

research, it cannot yet be concluded with confidence that this effect reflects the true dynamics of gender and recidivism.

4.5 Insignificant Factors

The results of this meta-analysis describe not only which factors successfully predict recidivism, but also those that do not. Several factors fit this description – for employment history, education level, and socio-economic status, there appears to be no relationship with either recidivism or violence. It is important to note, however, that these factors may be significant predictors of **initial** criminal behaviour, however, when dealing with a population made entirely of convicted criminals, these factors do not separate individuals who do not recidivate from those that do.

4.6 Limitations of the Research

A large number of effect sizes have been reported in the current analysis, revealing substantial new information and suggesting new directions for research. Despite these data, a number of limitations inherent to this analysis warrant discussion – the sample size of the meta-analysis, the lack of quantitative data in general, the relationship between these data and criminal behaviour as a phenomenon distinct from recidivism, the design of individual studies, unobserved criminal behaviour, and how researchers define recidivism.

4.61 The Size of the Meta-Analysis

In terms of a meta-analysis, the current study is relatively quite small, however as mentioned above, several factors have contributed to this dilemma. Primarily, there is a lack of data pertaining to women offenders in general, especially violent female offenders. Secondly, this particular study dealt with a very limited population, for example all studies which included sexually based crimes were omitted. Although this is a small population for examination, the point of a meta-analysis is to summarize the state of knowledge on a particular topic. Admittedly this meta-analysis is limited to how it can be generalized. However, this may be a result of shortcomings in the knowledge and data pertaining to female offenders and not this particular analysis. Although this meta-analysis only had 49 studies, one must keep in mind that it expanded across several different countries, thus, it is representative of what we know thus far about female offenders and recidivism. While the limitations of the sample size cannot be ignored, this study does provide an initial benchmark for later studies that consider links between gender and violence in recidivism.

4.62 Availability of Quantitative Evidence

Although the literature in this field is considerable, the vast majority of the articles screened did not contain sufficient quantitative data (as described in the methods) to calculate an effect size. While this is not necessarily a problem for the current study, this limitation does have implications for future research.

A sample of the otherwise eligible studies that were rejected based on a lack of descriptive data will be outlined as examples. This is by no means a critique of these

studies, rather an illustration of why a large proportion of eligible studies were excluded. The first of these examples is a study conducted by Porter, Birt and Boer (2001). To the author's credit, this manuscript contains a wealth of data that is relevant to the current meta-analysis (e.g., data on age and antisocial behaviour). However, no statistics are reported that lend themselves to conversion to an effect size (i.e., Cohen's *d*). The only indication of the descriptive data comes from a series of survival-curve graphs within the study, and the only indication of significance testing is from multivariate test (in this case, Cox regression) that cannot be converted to effect sizes. This is a typical layout found in many of the reports examined. Future research should bear in mind the need for the thoughtful reporting of quantitative measures, including exact test values or complete descriptive statistics.

Another example of typical data reporting can be drawn from a study by Loza and Loza-Fanous (2001). To the credit of Loza and Loza-Fanous, the manuscript is highly detailed, with distinct reports for violent and non-violent recidivists, along with reporting of the exact values of all statistical tests. Unfortunately, raw data could not be extracted because this analysis used the scores of a standardized test (in this case, the self-appraisal questionnaire). Although actuarial variables make up these tests scores, only the scores themselves were given.

In addition, a number of otherwise eligible articles dealt with experimental treatment programs as alternatives to prison (e.g., boot camps). One example of this type of study is by Alarid, Burton, and Cullen (2000). This study is otherwise an excellent manuscript – it contains a great deal of actuarial data separated by gender that would otherwise be a very useful addition to the meta-analysis. Unfortunately, this data had to

be excluded, since this population was already in a specialized treatment program, and thus did not deal with a typical "mainstream" recidivistic population. Inclusion of such data would run the risk of biasing the results due to including a sample that is not representative of the typical prison population.

Finally, there is a lack of quantitative data pertaining to women. Many of the published studies on recidivism have included females in their studies – however, the majority of studies have combined males and females together with little consideration for gender differences. Such inclusions have ranged from 1.2 percent in Martinez (1997), through 8.1 percent in Heller and Ehrlich (1984), to 49.3 percent females (Piquero, 2000). There are, however, studies on crime and recidivism that looked at only one gender. Putkonen, Komulainen, Virkkunen, Eronen, and Lonnqvist, (2003) studied female repeat offending, while Bonta *et al.* (1997), conducted two separate studies addressing the issues of predicting criminal recidivism in female offenders. Loza and Green (2003), looked at males only for violent crime and Glover, Nicholoson, Hemmati, Bernfeld, and Quency, (2002) measured violent recidivism in males only. The large number of studies (as described above) that do not distinguish between males and females limits the number of studies that could be used for this research. This paucity of research into the gender differences of male and female offenders is of concern, since women are the fastest growing population in the United States prison system.

In Canada, the numbers of women within the penal system are not as high as those in the United States. However, the population of the United States is approximately ten times the size of the Canadian population. Thus, one must keep in mind the population differences between countries when looking at statistics.

4.63 Relationship to Criminal Behaviour

Related to the previous point, although the large number of effect sizes provides convincing evidence that actuarial variables may predict a profile of both violent and non-violent recidivism, the link between these profiles and the factors underlying the beginnings of criminal behaviour is difficult to establish as it is blurred by a lack of quantitative evidence. Such an understanding would come from similar analyses of initial criminal behaviour, rather than recidivistic crime. Although research on the predictors of recidivism does aid in some respect the development of better programs targeting criminogenic needs, this evidence cannot be used as a tool for assessing many of the causes underlying the origins of criminal behaviour. Successful treatment programs within the penal system need to target not only the underpinnings specific to repeat offenders, but also those factors that lead to initial criminal behaviour.

Since the factors predicting **initial** criminal behaviour are arguably identical within both groups (since both recidivists and non-recidivists are convicted criminals), this type of research is not able to capture these differences that lead to the onset of the criminal behaviour within these three groups.

In order to draw a convincing link between the onset of criminal behaviour and recidivism using quantitative methods, the ideal paradigm would be through reporting differences in actuarial variables between violent or non-violent recidivists and a "normal" control population, defined as a group of individuals without criminal or violent histories. Such an analysis, however, would be inherently problematic. There are many potential definitions of a "normal" population, and obtaining accurate data would be

difficult. In the absence of criminal records, a researcher would have to rely heavily on self-reports, which may be inherently biased based on the demand characteristics of the study. A participant that has a criminal history, but no arrest record, may have a strong bias towards underreporting any past criminal behaviour for fear of possible repercussions from their admission. With the exception of developmental studies (where the behaviour of the participants is monitored throughout most of the course of the study by parents and schools), it is also difficult to conduct such a study longitudinally with adult populations. These difficulties may underlie why such studies, to the knowledge of the author, do not exist. Such an adult longitudinal study of the factors underlying the origins of criminal behaviour, although difficult to conduct and costly, may provide critical data for the creation of community programs to target prevention of at-risk groups rather than solely focus on the rehabilitation of those who are already imprisoned.

4.64 Study Design

A third limitation in the current study is one that is common to all meta-analyses. By its nature, a meta-analysis is restricted by the design of the original source studies which are being aggregated. In practical terms, this issue only presented significant limitations in two respects – the length of time that participants were observed following release from their index offence, and the lack of data regarding differences in the severity of the offences committed.

Foremost, short follow-up studies are likely to underestimate true rates of recidivism, since more people are shown to recidiviate over longer periods of time (e.g., Eisner, 2002; Matthews & Pitts, 1998). With few exceptions, such as a study by

Martinez (1997) which followed participants for 168 months, and Bonta *et al.* (1995), who followed a group of women for 10 years, the majority of the studies examined used relatively short follow-up periods. Thus, the actual rate of recidivism may be much higher than reported here. Future longitudinal studies on recidivism need to follow their participants for longer periods of time.

A second limitation related to study design was encountered due to the lack of data concerning the severity of the crimes committed. Because all of the data analysed took the form of aggregated statistics, the severity of the second crime committed by a recidivist relative to their index offence cannot be determined on an individual basis. If, for instance, a person is re-convicted of a crime that is relatively minor in comparison to their index offence, this may arguably constitute successful treatment of that offender. Although by the nature of the reported data this individual would not be distinguished from a recidivist who committed two equally severe crimes. This is especially relevant in the case of non-violent recidivists, since an unknown proportion of these individuals may be re-incarcerated for committing survival crimes due to the marginalization that many parolees (especially women) face (for more discussion on this, see section 4.63).

4.65 Unobserved Criminal Behaviour

Unobserved criminal behaviour remains a considerable obstacle to any criminological research. Unfortunately, since some proportion of crimes will go unobserved, all that can be done is to take into account that the rate of crime and recidivism may be much higher than recorded. Since this is an issue which affects all criminological research, this does not constitute a significant issue for the current study.

In any study on recidivism, both the first or second criminal event may go unobserved, and thus, they are unknowable.

4.66 Defining Recidivism

As stated in section 1.11, one of the most fundamental problems faced when studying recidivism lies in how to define this term. As there is not a universal definition of recidivism, the definition of what constitutes re-offending is greatly dependant upon who is conducting the research. This variance, in turn, has the potential to impact greatly on a correctional system's decisions in implementing treatment/rehabilitation programs, since recidivism rates are commonly used to measure treatment program success. Despite this problem, varying definitions of recidivism are unlikely to affect the outcome of this meta-analysis. In fact, these varying definitions of recidivism may actually increase the degree to which the results can be generalized – incorporating a broad range of definitions may result in conclusions that are not susceptible to change based on subtle changes in how one defines recidivism.

4.7 Future Directions

In addition to encapsulating the state of knowledge on a particular topic, one of the most important functions of meta-analytic syntheses is to examine gaps in the current knowledge and suggest avenues for further research (Wolf, 1986). The current analysis has uncovered several such gaps, and based on these, several suggestions for continued research on the actuarial correlates of recidivism can be offered. Foremost, this meta-analysis confirms and supports what other researchers have found and commented on, mainly, there is not enough data concerning women and recidivism. Moreover, this lack of data is most acute when considering women who commit violent crimes. This gap in the literature has been discussed at several points herein. As such, it will not be elaborated upon here. As a fundamental starting point, studies are needed that examine violent female offenders over prolonged follow-up periods (i.e., 6 years or more) in order to examine, both quantitatively and qualitatively, the predominant causes of relapse in the female offender. Both quantitative and qualitative methods are important for understanding women, crime and recidivism. Quantitative methods allow a researcher access to a much larger data set, but qualitative methods allows for a smaller in-depth, personal analysis of the problems facing women, and can lead to important findings regarding treatment of women and factors affecting recidivism and crime in general.

In addition, attention and the examined in the current study), but also those aspects and founde offenders (which were examined in the current study), but also those aspects in the life history that are idiosyncratic to the female offender, such as parentbood, lack of marketable job skills, and sexual and physical abuse histories.

Another avenue for further research would be to look at the policy realm affecting women. Reduction of recidivism is an important public policy objective, thus, rehabilitative programs offered in prison need to change. For example, better parenting classes need to be implemented so women who are mothers are better able to deal with the hardships of returning to parenthood. Research must also look into the amount of securitization that women face after leaving prison (double deviance); this may ultimately

lead to loss of job opportunities, and community support resulting in re-offending due to loss of legitimate opportunities. As well, programs need to take into account the sexual and physical abuse histories of many women. Programs must be available to aid in the educational and skill training of men and women, and special emphasis must be placed on employment, especially for women who are often the primary caregivers of children. In addition, research should look into the success rate of these programs in order to establish a reduction in recidivism rates.

With this information, programs can be developed which are based on criminogenic and mental health needs particular to women, rather than based on models developed using male populations. In turn, these new, targeted programs need to be followed and assessed in order to establish their efficacy in female populations.

5. CONCLUSION

As stated in the introduction, the study of recidivism is critical to optimizing the correctional system in general. Although there is still a great deal to be learned about recidivism, especially women recidivists, there exist many limitations inherent a studying crime and recidivism (i.e., defining recidivism chooserved criminal behaviour, and opportunity and offending). The meta-analytic technique is uniquely capable of accounting for some of the inconsistencies typically seen across studies attempting to predict violent recidivism. Fortunately, the current meta-analysis revealed several novel relationships between recidivism, demographic variables, and gender. Given these

results, attention can now be turned to the original research questions posed in section 1.83:

 (1) To what degree can actuarial (i.e., demographic/historical) variables expose a "profile" that can distinguish violent and non-violent recidivists to provide unique predictors of violence?

This study found that increased violent recidivism was associated with increased criminal (and especially violent) history; however this variable predicted future violent recidivism equally well in both men and women. Age showed no ability to differentiate violent recidivists from non-recidivists. As well, antisocial personality traits may also distinguish violent recidivists from non-violent recidivists.

(2) To what degree can these same variables distinguish those offenders most likely to recidivate, independent of violence?

The largest predictor of recidivism in general is marital status, at least in men. Those individuals who are married tend to have less risk of repeat offending than those without spouses. The underlying reasons for this association may lie in social control theories (see discussion above). The current findings also reveal that both alcohol and drug use were significantly linked to an increased risk of recidivism in general. The link between substance use and recidivism may manifest itself in several ways – such as through drug-defined crimes (e.g., possession and selling), drug-related offences (in which people are financing their drug habit). Although there is a strong relationship between substance use, crime, and recidivism, drug use may be a critical result, rather

than cause, of criminal behaviour (French *et al.*, 2000). In either case, drug use is an important factor when examining the link between crime and recidivism

In addition, age was found to be predictive of recidivism. Those individuals who began committing crimes at an earlier age were found to have the highest risk of reoffending. Thus, the earlier a person starts criminal behaviour the more serious it may become, regardless of gender. This supports many previous reports that early onset of criminal behaviour (age at first offence) is predictive of more serious criminal activity later on in life.

(3) How are these predictors of both violence and recidivism affected by gender?

Arguably, one of the most important components of this study was the analysis of gender and violence. Gender has always been a critical aspect of crime, punishment and rehabilitation. Gender becomes a greater concept when looking at violence. As stated in the discussion, violence is an inherently gendered concept. This may be one of the reasons why violence and women have been virtually forgotten within the research on crime, and recidivism.

Despite the limited data available on female offenders, several actuarial variables have been shown to affect recidivism in a distinct fashion for males and females. Such significant gender differences have been found in the link between the risk of recidivism and (a) violent criminal history, (b) age at first offence, as well as (c) sentence length. The fact that these significant differences were observed within a limited body of literature further underscores the potential that there are many, as yet undiscovered, ways in which the life histories of people who have been incarcerated effect (and are effected by) gender.

(4) How do moderator variables across studies (i.e., study characteristics such as the country in which the sample was drawn or the length of time that participants were followed longitudinally) affect the results that these studies typically report?

Several variables examined in the current meta-analysis were significantly affected by moderator variables. When considering contrasts made between violent recidivists and non-recidivists, the proportion of male violent recidivists across studies was accounted for by changes in race as well as the length of follow up, across studies. Thus, studies with the largest minority populations as well as the longest follow-up period report the greatest number of violent recidivists. In women, follow-up also significantly predicted the proportion of violent recidivists, but with the opposite trend – studies with the shortest follow-up found the greatest relative proportion of violent recidivists. Thus, across studies, the longer women are followed within a study the less likely they are to recidivate violently. In addition, age differences between violent and non-violent male recidivists were significantly affected by the country in which the study was conducted in, as well as the follow-up length. Thus, while violent recidivists tend to be older than their non-recidivist counterparts, this difference was smallest in studies with the longest follow-up periods. This difference also tended to be smaller in studies conducted in the U.S.A. than in other countries (i.e., Canada, England, Finland, Sweden, and Turkey). In addition, while violent recidivists generally have a greater violent criminal history than non-recidivists, and studies with longer follow-ups show this difference in greater magnitude.

When considering contrasts between violent and non-violent recidivists, several significant moderator variables were also observed. While the proportion of violent

recidivists is generally much smaller than the proportion of non-violent recidivists across both male and female samples, this difference is smaller in males in general and significantly smaller in male samples that include a larger Caucasian sample. In addition, while violent recidivists have, on average, a greater criminal history than non-violent recidivists and this difference tends to be larger in studies that examine populations of prisoners serving longer sentences.

This study has not only confirmed several known predictors of recidivism, but revealed several new factors, especially in relation to gender and violence. It cannot be stresses enough that more research is needed on women, violence and re-offending. It is the obligation of society to provide effective means of rehabilitation and treatment for those individuals who violate social norms. Although this is a laudable goal, the tremendous gap in our collective understanding of the female offender has made the prospect of meeting this obligation problematic. With the addition of the data from the current study, along with future research targeting the female offender, society may make substantial progress towards meeting this most fundamental obligation.

6. REFERENCES

- Alarid, L.F., Burton, V.S. Jr., & Cullen, F.T. (2000). Gender and crime among felony offenders: assessing the generality of social control and differential association theories. *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency*, 37, 171-199.
- Alba, R.D., & Logan, J.R. (1993). Minority proximity to whites in suburbs: an individual level analysis of segregation. *American Journal of Sociology*, 98: 1388-1427.
- Andrews, D.A., & Bonta, J. (1994). *The Psychology of Criminal Conduct*. Cincinnati-Ohio: Anderson.
- Andrews, D. A., & Bonta, J. (1995). *The Level of Service Inventory–Revised*. Toronto, Canada: Multi-Health Systems.
- Archwamety, T. & Katsiyannis, A. (1998). Factors related to recidivism among delinquent females at a state correctional facility. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 7: 59-67.
- Athens, H. L. (1980). Violent criminal acts and actors: A symbolic interactionist study. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Austin, J. & Irwin, J. (2001). *It's about time: America's imprisonment binge* (3rd Ed.). California: Wadsworth.
- Babcock, J.C., & Steiner, R. (1999). The relationship between treatment, incarceration and recidivism of battering: A program evaluation of Seattle's coordinated community response to domestic violence. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 13: 46-95.

Banks, C. (2003). Women in prison. Santa Barbara, CA: ABC-CLIO Inc.

- Baumer, E.P., Wright, R., Kristinsdttir, K. & Gunnlaugsson, H. (2002). Crime, shame and recidivism: the case of Iceland. *British Journal of Criminology*, 41, 40-59.
- Bonta, J., Harman, W.G., Hann, R.G., & Cormier, R.B. (1996). The prediction of recidivism among federally sentenced offenders: A re-validation of the SIR scale. *Canadian Journal of Criminology*, 38, 61-79.
- Bonta, J., Law, M., & Hanson, K. (1998). The prediction of criminal and violent recidivism among mentally disordered offenders: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 123, 123-142.
- Bonta, J., Pang, B. & Wallace-Capretta, S. (1995). Predictors of recidivism among incarcerated female offenders. *The Prison Journal*, 75, 227-294.
- Boritch, H. (1997). *Fallen women: female crime and criminal justice in Canada*. Scarborough, ON: International Thomson Publishing.
- Buikhuisen, W,. Hoekstra, H,. (1974). Factors related to recidivism. *British Journal of Criminology*, 14, 63-69.
- Campbell, A. (1993). Men, Women and Aggression. New York: Basic Books
- Charles, C.Z. (2003). The dynamics of racial residential segregation. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 29: 167-207.
- Clinard, M.B., & Meier, R.F., (1992). Sociology of Deviant Behaviour. (8th Ed). Fortworth, TX: Brace College.
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioural sciences* (2nd Ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum,.

Comack, E. (1996). Women in trouble, Halifax, NS: Fernwood.

- Comack, E., & Balfour, G. (2004). Gendering violent crime. In The power to criminalize (pp. 50-77). Halifax, NS: Fernwood.
- Comack, E., Chopyk, V., & Wood, L. (2002). Aren't women violent too?. In Schissel, B.,
 & Brooks, C. (Ed.), Marginality & condemnation: An introduction to critical criminology (pp. 235-256). Halifax, NS: Fernwood.
- Cooper, H., & Hedges, L.V. (1994). The handbook of research synthesis. New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Copeland, J. (1997). A qualitative study of barriers to formal treatment among women who self-managed change in addictive behaviours. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 14, 183-190.
- Corapcioglu, A. & Erdogan, S. (2004). A cross-sectional study on expression of anger and factors associated with criminal recidivism in prisoners with prior offences. *Forensic Science International*, 140: 167-174.
- Correctional Services Canada. (2003). Retrieved March 8, 2005. From: <u>http://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/text/prgrm/fsm/fsw27/fsw27e02_e.shtml</u>
- Correctional Services Canada. (2004). Canadian women offender profiles: trends from 1981 to 2002 (Revised). Retrieved March 8, 2005. From: <u>http://www.csc-</u>

scc.gc.ca/text/rsrch/reports/r131/r131_e.pdf

Cottle, C.C., Lee, R.J., & Heilbrun, K. (2001). The predictions of criminal recidivism in juveniles: a meta-analysis. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 28, 367-394.

Dejong, C. (1997). Specific deterrence and juvenile analysis: integrating theoretical and empirical models of recidivism. Criminology, 35: 561-576.

- Dowden, C. & Andrews. D.A. (1999). What works for female offenders: A meta-analytic review. *Crime and Delinquency*, 45, 438-452.
- Eisner, M. (2002). Crime, problem drinking and drug use: patterns of problem behaviour in cross-national perspectives. *ANNALS, AAPSS*, 580, 201-225.
- Felson, R.B. (2002). Violence and Gender Re-examined. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- French, M.T., McGeary, K.A., Chitwood, D.D., McCoy, C.B., Inciardi, J.A., & McBride, D. (2000). Chronic drug use and crime. *Substance Abuse*, 21, 95-109.
- Gendreau, P., Little, T., Goggin, C. (1996). A Meta- analysis of the predictors of adult offender recidivism: what works!. Criminology, 34: 575-596.

Giddens, A. (1991). Introduction to sociology. California: Cambridge (pp. 168-172).

- Gilbert, P.R. (2002). Discourse of female violence and societal gender stereotypes. Violence Against Women, 8: 1271-1300.
- Glass, G.V., McGaw, B., & Smith, M.L. (1981). *Meta-analysis in social research*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Glover, A.J.J., Nicholoson, D.E., Hemmati, T., Bernfeld, G.A. & Quency, V.L. (2002). A comparison of predictors of general and violent recidivism among high-risk forderal offenders. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 29: 235-249.
- Goffman, E. (1963). Stigma: Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity. Englew ad Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Hannah-Moffat, K., & Shaw, M. (2001). Taking risks: incorporating gender and culture into the classification and assessment of federally sentenced women in Canada.

- Hawkins, M.J. (1994). *The Oxford English mini-dictionary* (3rd Ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Harris, M.J., & R. Rosenthal. (1985). Mediation of interpersonal expectancy effects: 31 meta-analyses. *Psychological Bulletin*, 97, 363-386.
- Hasselback, P., Lee, K.I., Mao, Y., Nichol, R., & Wigle, D.T. (1991). The relationship of suicide rates to sociodemographic factors in canadian census divisions. *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 36, 655-659.
- Hedges, LV. (1982). Estimating effect size from a series of independent experiments. *Psychol Bull*, 92, 490-499.
- Hedges, L.V., & Olkin, I. (1985). Statistical methods for meta-analysis. New York, NY: Academic Press
- Heller, M.S., & Ehrlich, S.M. (1984). Actuarial variables in 9,600 violent and nonviolent offenders referred to a court psychiatric clinic. *The American Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 5, 30-36.
- Hillbrand, M., Foster, H.G., jr., & Hirt, M. (1991). Alcohol abuse, violence, and neurological impairment, a forensic study. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 6, 411-423.
- Hirschi, T. (1969). Causes of delinquency. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Holmes, R. M., & Holmes, S.T. (1996). Profiling violent crimes: an investigative tool. California: Sage
- Hubbard, D.J., & Pratt, T.C. (2002). A meta-analysis of the predictors of delinquency among girls. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 35, 1-13.

- Inness, S.A. (1999). Tough girls: Women warriors and wonder women in popular culture. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Julian, F.H. (1993). Gender and crime: different sex, different treatment? In C.C. Culliver (Ed.), *Female criminality: the state of the art* (pp. 343-373). New York, NY: Garland.
- Kulik, C.L., & Kulik. (1982). Effects of ability grouping on secondary students: A metaanalysis of evaluation findings. *Review of Educational Research*, 53, 397-414.
- Lang, R.A., Holden, R., Langevin, R., Pugh, G.M., & Wu, R. (1987). Personality and criminality in violent offenders. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 2, 179-195.
- Lattimore, P.K. (2000). *Recidivism*. In Adler, P.P., Alder, and Corzine, J. (Eds), *The Encyclopaedia of Criminology and Deviant Behavior*. Vol 1: Historical, Conceptual, and Theoretical Issues. Philadelphia, PA: Brunner-Routledge.
- Lipsey, M.W., & Wilson, D.B. (1993). The efficacy of psychological, educational and behavioural treatment. *Am. Psychol.*, 12, 1181-1209.
- Lipsey M.W., & Wilson, D.B. (2001). *Practical meta-analysis*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Loucks, A., & Zamble, E. (1994). Some comparisons of female and male serious offenders. *Forum on Correctional Research*, 6, 22-25.
- Loza, W. & Green, K. (2003). The self-appraisal questionnaire- a self-report measure for predicting recidivism verses clinician administered measures: A 5-year follow up study. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 18: 781-797.

- Loza, W. & Loza-Fanous, A. (2001). The effectiveness of the self-appraisal questionnaire in predicting offenders' postrelease outcome: A comparison study. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 28, 105-121.
- Martinez, R. (1997). Predictors of serious violent recidivism. *Journal of Interpersonal* violence, 12: 216-228.
- Matthews, R., & Pitts, J. (1998). Rehabilitation, recidivism, and realism: evaluating violence reduction programs in prison. *Prison Journal*, 78, 390-399.
- Merrill, J., Alterman, A., Cacciola, J., & Rutherford, M. (1999). Prior treatment history and its impact on criminal recidivism. *Journal of Substance Treatment*, 17, 313-319.

Merton, R. (1968). Social Theory and Social Structure. New York: Free Press.

McNulty, T.L. (1999). The residential process and the ecological concentration of race, poverty and violent crime in New York City. *Sociological Forces*, 32, 25-36.

Miczek, K.A., DeBold, J.F., Haney, M., Tidey, J., Vinian, J., & Weerts, E.M. (1994).
Alcohol, drugs of abuse, aggression and violence. In Reiss, A.J., Roth, J.A. (Eds.).
Understanding and preventing violence, Vol. 3. Washington, DC: National
Academy Press.

Moelker, W. (2004). The difference between use and abuse of addictive drugs/narcotics? [Electronic Version] Retrieved, March 5, 2005 From:

http://web4health.info/en/answers/add-general-use-abuse.htm.

Monahan, J. (2003). Risk and race: an essay on violence forecasting and the civil/criminal distinction. [Electronic Version] Retrieved February 7, 2004 From: <u>http://ssrn.com/abstract_id=405581</u>.

Neter, J. Kutner, M.H., Wasserman, W., Nachtsheim, C.J., & Neter, J. (1996). *Applied Linear Statstical Models*. New York: McGraw-Hill

Nuffield, J. (1982). Parole decision-making in Canada: Research towards decision guidelines. Ottawa: Solicitor General of Canada.

- Oklahoma department of corrections. (2004). [Electronic Version]. Retrieved: February 28, 2004. From: http://www.doc.state.ok.us/CHARTS/recidivi.htm.
- Pearson K. 1904. Report on certain enteric fever inoculation statistics. *British Medical Journal*, 5, 1243-1246
- Pelissier, M.M. Camp, B. Scott, D. Gaes, G. Saylor, G. William, G., & Rhoades. (2003). Gender differences in outcomes from prison-based residential treatment. *Journal* of Substance Abuse Treatment, 24, 149-160.
- Piquero, A.R., & Chung, H.E. (2001). The relationship between gender, early onset, and the seriousness of offending. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 29, 189-206.
- Piquero, A. (2000). Assessing the relationship between gender, chronicity, seriousness, and offence skewness in criminal offending. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 28: 103-115.
- Porter, S., Birt, A.R., & Boer, D.P. (2001). Investigation of the criminal and conditional release profiles of canadian federal offenders as a function of psychopathy and age. *Law and Human Behavior*, 25, 647-661.
- Proulx, J., Tardif, M., Lamoureux, B., & Lussier, P. (1999). How does recidivism risk assessment predict survival? (Technical Report No. 99-24). Universite De Montreal, Les Cahiers De L'ecole De Criminologie.

- Putkonen, H., Komulainen, E.J., Virkkunen, M., Eronen, M., & Lonnqvist, J. (2003).
 Risk of repeat offending among violent female offenders with psychotic and personality disorders. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 160: 947-951.
- Putnins, A.L. (2003). Substance use and the prediction of young offender recidivism. Drug and Alcohol Review, 22, 401-408.
- Rapp-paglicci, L.A., Roberts, A.R., & Wodarski, J.S. (2002). *Handbook of Violence*. New York, NY: JohnWiley & Sons.

Reckless, W. (1967). The Crime Problem. New York: Meridith.

- Rice, M.E., & Harris, G.T. (1995). Violent recidivism: assessing predictive validity. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 63, 737-748.
- Rosenthal, R. (1995). Writing meta-analytic reviews. *Psychological Bulletin*, 118, 183-192.
- Rosenthal, R., & DiMatteo, M.R. (2001). Meta-analysis: recent developments in quantitative methods for literature reviews. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52, 59-82.
- Sampson, R.J. & Laub, J.H. (1990). Crime and deviance over the life course the salience of adult social bonds. American Sociological Review, 55, 609-627.
- Sampson, R., & Lauritsen, J. (1994). Violent victimization and offending: individual, situational and community level risk factors. In Reiss, A.J., & Roth, J.A.
 Understanding and preventing violence, Vol. 3. (pp. 1-115). Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Sampson, R.J., Raudenbush, S.W., & Earls, F. (1997). Neighborhoods and violent crime: a multilevel study of collective efficacy. Science, 277, 918-924.

- Scott, M., Schwartz, B., & VanderPlatt, M. (2000). Sociology: Making sense of the world. Toronto, ON: Pearson.
- Shaw, M. (1994). Women in prison: a literature review. Forum on Correctional *Research*, 6, 13-18.
- Simourd, L., & Andrews, D.A. (1994). Correlates of delinquency: a look at gender differences. Forum on Correctional Research, 6, 26-31.
- Smith, M., & G. Glass. (1980). Meta-analysis of research on class size and it's relationships to attitudes and instruction. *American Educational Research Journal*, 17, 419-433.
- Sugar, F., & Fox, L. (1990). Survey of Federally Sentenced Aboriginal Women in the community. Native Women's Association of Canada, Edited Version February 6, pps 1-18.
- Teevan, J.J. & Hewitt, W.E. (1995). Introduction to sociology: A Canadian focus. (5th edition). Prentice-Hill: Scarborough, ON.
- Temple, M.T., Fillmore, K.M., Hartka, E., Johnstone, B., Leino, E.V., & Motoyoshi,
 M.A. (1991). Meta-analysis of change in marital and employment status as
 predictors of alcohol-consumption on a typical occasion. British Journal of
 Addiction, 86, 1269-1281.
- The Free Dictionary.com [Electronic Version]. Retrieved October 19, 2004, from http://encyclopedia.thefreedictionary.com/Analysis+of+variance%2fRandom+eff ects+models.
- Tolan, P.H., & Thomas, P. (1995). Implications of age of onset for delinquency risk II: Longitudinal data. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 23, 157-181.

- Walker, S. (1994). Sense and Non-Sense About Crime and Drugs (3rd ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Ward, T., Stewart, C. (2003). Criminogenic needs and human needs: A theoretical model. Psychology, Crime and Law, 9, 125-143.
- Williams, D.R., Takeuchi, D.T., & Adair, R.K. (1992). Marital-status and psychiatricdisorders among blacks and whites. Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 33, 140-157.
- Wilson, M.K., Quinn, P., Beville, B.A., & Anderson, S.C. (1998). Reducing recidivism for women inmates: the search for alternatives. *Journal of Offender Rehabilitation*, 27, 61-76.
- Wolf, F.M. (1986). Meta-analysis: quantitative methods for research synthesis. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Zakzanis KK. (2001). Statistics to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth: Formulae, illustrative numerical examples, and heuristic interpretation of effect size analyses for neuropsychological researchers. *Archives of Clinical Neuropsychology*, 16, 653–667.

7. APPENDIX A

The following studies met the inclusion criteria for the preceding meta-analysis:

- Archwamety, T. & Katsiyannis, A. (1998). Factors related to recidivism among delinquent females at a state correctional facility. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 7: 59-67.
- Babcock, J.C., & Steiner, R. (1999). The relationship between treatment, incarceration and recidivism of bettering: A program evaluation of Seattle's coordinated community response to domestic violence. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 13: 46-59.
- Bonta, J., Pang, B. & Capretta, S.W. (1995). Predictors of recidivism among incarcerated female offenders. *The Prison Journal*, 75: 227-294.
- Bonta, J., Harman, W.G., Hann, R.G., & Cormier, R.B. (1996). The prediction of recidivism among federally sentenced offenders: A re-validation of the SIR scale. *Canadian Journal of Criminology*, 38: 61-79.
- Broadhurst, R.G., & Maller, R.A. (1990). The recidivism of prisoners released for the first time: reconsidering the effectiveness question. *Australia and New Zealand Journal of Criminology*, 23: 88-104.
- Chang, J.J., Chen, J.J & Brownson, R. (2003). The role of repeat victimization in adolescent delinquent behaviours and recidivism. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 32: 272-280.
- Corapcioglu, A. & Erdogan, S. (2004). A cross-sectional study on expression of anger and factors associated with criminal recidivism in prisoners with prior offences. *Forensic Science International*, 140: 167-174.

- Cohen, B.Z., Eden, R. & Lazar, A. (1991). The efficacy of probation versus imprisonment in reducing recidivism of serious offenders in Israel. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 19: 263-270.
- Denno, D.W. (1986). Victim, offender, and situational characteristics of violent crime. Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 77: 1142-1158.
- Glover, A.J.J., Nicholoson, D.E., Hemmati, T., Bernfeld, G.A. & Quency, V.L. (2002). A comparison of predictors of general and violent recidivism among high-risk federal offenders. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 29: 235-249.
- Grann, M. & Wedin, I. (2002). Risk factors for recidivism among assault and spousal homicide offenders. *Psychology, Law and Crime*, 8: 5-23.
- Grann, M., Langstrom, N., Tengatrom, A., & Kullgren, G. (1999). Psychopathy (PCL-R) predicts violent recidivism among criminal offenders with personality disorders in Sweden. *Law and Human Behavior*, 23, 205-217.
- Greenberg, S.R.R., Firestone, P., Bradford, J.M., & Greenberg, D.M. (2002). Prediction of recidivism in exhibitionists: psychological, phallometric, and offence factors. *Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment*, 14: 329-347.
- Hannah-Moffat, K. & Shaw, M. (2001). Taking Risks: Incorporating Gender and Culture into Classification and Assessment of Federally Sentenced Women. Ottawa, Canada: Status of Women Canada.
- Harris, G.T., Rice, M.E., & Cormier, C.A. (2004). Prospective replication of the violence risk appraisal guide in predicting violent recidivism among forensic patients. *Law and Human Behavior*, 26: 377-394.

- Harris, G.T., Rice, M.E., & Cormier, C.A. (2002). Prospective replication of the violent risk appraisal guide in predicting violent recidivism among forensic patients. *Law and Human Behavior*, 26: 377-394.
- Heller, M.S. & Ehrlich, S.M. (1984). Actuarial variables in 9,600 violent and non-violent offenders referred to a court psychiatric clinic. *The American Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 4: 30-36.
- Hollin, C. R. & Palmer, E.J. (2003). Levels of service inventory-revised profiles of violent and non-violent prisoners. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 18: 1075-1086.
- Jones, M. & Sims, B. (1997). Recidivism of offenders released from prison in North Carolina: A gender comparison. *Prison Journal*, 77: 335-349.
- Lang, R.A., Holden, R., Langevin, R., Pugh, G.M., & Wu, R. (1987). Personality and criminality in violent offenders. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 2: 179-195.
- Lanza-Kaduce, L., Parker, K.F. & Thomas, C.W. (1999). A comparative recidivism analysis of releases from private and public prisons. *Crime & Delinquency*, 45: 28-47.
- Loza, W. & Green, K. (2003). The self-appraisal questionnaire- a self-report measure for predicting recidivism verses clinician administered measures: A 5-year follow up study. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 18: 781-797.
- Loza, W., & Loza-Fanous, A. (2003). More evidance for the validity of the self-apprasial questionnaire for predicting violent and non-violent recidivism: a 5-year follow-up study. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 30: 709-721.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

- Loza, W., Dhaliwal, G., Kroner, D.G., & Loza-Fanous, A. (2000). Reliability, construct and concurrent validities of the self-appraisal questionnaire. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 27: 356-374.
- Loza, W., & Loza-Fanous, A. (2000). Predictive validity of the self-appraisal questionnaire (SAQ): a tool for assessing violent and non-violent release failures. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 15: 1183-1191.
- Maki, P., Veijola, J., Joukamaa, M., Laara, E., Hakko, H., Jones, P.B., & Isohanni, M.
 (2003). Maternal separation at birth and schizophrenia a long-term follow-up of the Finnish Christmas Seal Home Children. Schizophrenia Research, 60: 13-19.
- Martinez, R. (1997). Predictors of serious violent recidivism. *Journal of Interpersonal* violence, 12: 216-228.
- McCarroll, J.E., Thayer, L.E., Liu, X., Newby, J.H., Norwood, A.E., Fullerton, C.S., & Ursano, R.J. (2000). Spouse abuse recidivism in the U.S. army by gender and military status. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 68: 521-525.
- Merrill, J., Alterman, A., Cacciola, J. & Rutherford, M. (1999). Prior treatment history and its impact on criminal recidivism. *Journal of Substance Treatment*, 17: 313-319.
- Mills, J.F., Kroner, D.G., & Hemmati, T. (2003). Predicting violent behaviour through a static-stable lens. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 18: 891-904.
- Moss, C.S. & Johnson, M.E. (1984). An assessment of the Megargee typology in lifelong criminal violence. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 11: 225-234.
- Nirel, R., Landau, S.F., Sebba, L. & Sagiv, B. (1997). The effects of service work: an analysis of recidivism. *Journal of Quantitative Criminology*, 13: 73-92.

- Olson, D.E. & Stalans, L.J. (2001). Violent offenders on probation. *Violence Against Women*, 7: 1164-1185.
- Pallone, N.J. & Hennessy, J.J. (1977). Empirical derivation of a scale for recidivism proneness among parolees: A multivariate model. Offender Rehabilitation, 2: 95-110.
- Piquero, A. (2000). Assessing the relationship between gender, chronicity, seriousness, and offence skewness in criminal offending. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 28: 103-115.
- Putkonen, H., Komulainen, E.J., Virkkunen, M., Eronen, M., & Lonnqvist, J. (2003). Risk of repeat offending among violent female offenders with psychotic and personality disorders. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 160: 947-951.
- Quinsey. V.L. & Maguire, A. (1986). Maximum security psychiatric patients: actuarial and clinical predictions of dangerousness. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 1: 143-171.
- Rice, M.E., & Harris, G.T. (1992). A comparison of criminal recidivism among schizophrenic and non-schizophrenic offenders. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 15: 397-408.
- Rice, M.E. & Harris, G.T. (1995). Violent recidivism: assessing predictive validity. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 63: 737-748.
- Rice, M.E., Harris, G.T., & Quinsey, V.L. (1990). A follow-up of rapists assessed in a maximum-security psychiatric facility. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 5: 435-448.
- Serin, R.C. & Amos, N.L. (1995). The role of psychopathy in the assessment of dangerousness. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 18: 231-238.

- Sowles, R.C. & Gill, J.H. (1970). Institutional and community adjustment of delinquents following counselling. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 34: 398-402.
- Sreenivasan, S., Kirkish, P., Eth, S., Mintz, J., Hwang, S., Van Gorp, W., & Van Vort, W. (1997). Predictors of recidivistic violence in criminally insane and civilly committed psychiatric patients. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 20: 279-291.
- Stalenheim, G.E. (2004). Long term validity of biological markers of <u>psychopathy</u> and criminal recidivism: follow-up 6-8 years after forensic psychiatric investigation. *Psychiatric Research*, 121: 281-291.
- Tiihonen, J., Hakola, P., Nevalainen, A., & Eronen, M. (1995). Risk of homicidal behaviour among persons convicted of homicide. *Forensic Science International*, 72: 43-48.
- Viano, E.C. (1975). Growing up in an affluent society- delinquency and recidivism in suburban America. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 3: 223-236.
- Villeneuve, D.B. & Quinsey, V.L. (1995). Predictors of general and violent recidivism among mentally disordered inmates. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 22: 397-410.
- Worling, J.R., & Curwen, T. (2000). Adolescence sexual offender recidivism: success of specialized treatment and implications for risk prediction. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 24, 965-982.
- Wormith, J.S., & Goldstone, C.S. (1984). Clinical and statistical predictions of recidivism. Criminal Justice and Behavior, 11, 3-34.